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FOREWORD TO THE ACCOUNTS
Introduction
The Joint Committee’s financial performance for the year ended 31 March 2017 is as set out in the
Comprehensive Income & Expenditure Summary and the financial position is as set out in the
Balance Sheet and Cash Flow Statement.
These financial statements have been prepared in line with the Code of Practice on Local Authority
Accounting in the United Kingdom 2016/17 (the Code). It is the purpose of this foreword to explain in
an easily understandable way the financial facts in relation to the Joint Committee.
The Statement of Accounts explains the Joint Committee’s finances during the financial year 2016/17
and its financial position at the end of that year. It follows approved accounting standards and is
necessarily technical in parts.
Accounting Policies
The Statement of Accounting Policies sets out the basis upon which the financial statements have
been prepared, and explains the accounting treatment of both general and specific items.
Statement of Responsibilities for the Statement of Accounts
This statement, as set out on page 24, sets out the main financial responsibilities of the Joint
Committee of Tayside Contracts and the Proper Officer.
The Accounting Statements
Movement in Reserves Statement
This Statement, as set out on page 28, shows the movement in the year on the different reserves held
by the Joint Committee, analysed into 'usable reserves' (i.e. those that can be applied to fund
expenditure) and other reserves. The 'Deficit on the provision of services' line shows the true
economic cost of providing the Joint Committee's services, more details of which are shown in the
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement (CIES). These are different from the statutory
amounts required to be charged to the General Fund Balance. The 'Net increase/decrease before
transfers to Statutory and Other Reserves’ line shows the statutory General Fund Balance before
contributions to constituent Councils.
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement (CIES)
This statement, as set out on page 29, shows the income and expenditure in the year of providing
services in accordance with generally accepted accounting practices.
Balance Sheet
The Balance Sheet, as set out on page 30, shows the value as at the Balance Sheet date, of the Joint
Committee's assets and liabilities. The net assets/liabilities of the Joint Committee (assets less
liabilities) are matched by the reserves held. Reserves are reported in two categories. The first
category of reserves are usable reserves, ie those reserves that may be used to fund expenditure,
subject to the need to maintain a prudent level of reserves and any statutory limitations on their use
(for example, the Capital Receipts Reserve that may only be used to fund capital expenditure or repay
debt). The second category of reserves is those that the Joint Committee is not able to use to fund
expenditure. This category includes reserves that hold unrealised gains and losses and reserves that
hold timing differences shown in the Movement in Reserves Statement line ‘Adjustments between
accounting basis and funding basis under regulations’.
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FOREWORD TO THE ACCOUNTS (continued)
Cash Flow Statement
The Cash Flow Statement, as set out on page 31, shows the changes in cash and cash equivalents of
the Joint Committee during the reporting period. The statement shows how the Joint Committee
generates and uses cash and cash equivalents by classifying cash flows as operating, investing and
financing activities. The amount of net cash flows arising from operating activities is a key indicator of
the extent to which the operations of the Joint Committee are funded by way of services provided by
the Joint Committee. Investing activities represent the extent to which cash outflows have been made
for resources which are intended to contribute to the Joint Committee’s future service delivery. Cash
flows arising from financing activities are useful in predicting claims on future cash flows by providers
of capital (i.e. borrowing) to the Joint Committee.
Expenditure and Funding Analysis
The Expenditure and Funding Analysis, as set out on page 32, demonstrates how the surplus /
(deficit) on provision of services as per the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement
reconciles to the distributable surplus payable to constituent Councils and the movement in the
General Fund as per the Movement in Reserves Statement.
Material Changes in Accounting Policy
Tayside Contracts continues to adopt the accounting policies recommended by the Chartered Institute
of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) and the Local Authorities (Scotland) Accounts Advisory
Committee (LASAAC). There were no changes in accounting policies during 2016/17.
Trading Performance
During 2016/17, income generated by the Construction Division was down against expectations by
£1,365k. This was due to combination of factors, for example, reductions in Council budgets for
reactive street lightning maintenance and lower levels of winter maintenance due to weather
conditions. Related costs such as labour, materials, plant and sub-contractors, however, decreased
by £1,695k against budget, resulting in a surplus of £780k, being £330k better than budget.
The figures shown in the tables below are adjusted to reflect the elimination of all inter-divisional
trading, and to include all statutory and proper accounting adjustments.

Construction Division
Income
Expenditure

Budget
£’000
40,791
(40,341)

Actual
£’000
39,426
(38,646)

Variance
£’000
(1,365)
1,695

450

780

330

Surplus

(unfavourable)
favourable
favourable

Facilities Services Division, comprising the Facilities Management (FM) and Catering Units, also
outperformed budget expectations for the year. Expenditure was carefully and rigorously managed to
achieve a net favourable variance against budget of £312k for the year.
Facilities Services Division
Income
Expenditure

Budget
£’000
30,525
(30,225)

Actual
£’000
30,868
(30,256)

Variance
£’000
343
(31)

300

612

312

Surplus
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favourable
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FOREWORD TO THE ACCOUNTS (continued)
The overall financial performance against budget therefore shows an increased surplus of £1,392k
earned from turnover of £70,294k, against a target surplus of £750k.

Tayside Contracts - Total
Income
Expenditure

Budget
£’000
71,316
(70,566)

Actual
£’000
70,294
(68,902)

Variance
£’000
(1,022)
1,664

750

1,392

642

Surplus

(unfavourable)
favourable
favourable

Balance Sheet
Tayside Contracts’ pension liability, as measured in accordance with International Accounting
Standards 19 – Employee Benefits (IAS 19), again dominates the Balance Sheet as at 31 March
2017. A net asset value of £2,901k (2015-16: £2,589k) is offset by a notional pension liability of
£51,622k (2015/16: £32,282k) to create a net liability position of £48,721k (2015/16: £29,693k). Net
liabilities increased by £19,028k year on year. Of this, £19,340k is due to the afore-mentioned
pension liability, meaning that the rest of the Balance Sheet actually improved by £312k.
The £19,340k increase to our IAS19 net liability relates to actuarial losses of £15,873k, net current
and past service costs and curtailments of £2,293k and interest and administration costs of £1,174k.
Non-current assets increased by £75k, to £10,316k, with £2,115k invested in new assets, offset by
depreciation charges and disposals.
Long term liabilities, excluding the IAS19 liability, have reduced by £375k to £5,986k. This relates to
the longer term elements of Prudential borrowing and quarry provisions.
As at 31 March 2017, provisions had decreased by £55k from the previous year to £1,596k. Within
provisions, an increase to the restructuring provision was more than offset by decreases in other
provisions, including Whin dust at the quarry, legal disputes and remedial work provisions. All
provisions are reviewed annually to ensure that all known liability exposures are adequately
accounted for.
At 31 March 2017, the bank overdraft of £2,049k showed a deterioration against the previous year
end of £1,359k. However, this needs to be seen in the context of a £1,146k improvement in the
debtors and creditors balances, which represent net amounts due, but not yet cashed. Overall net
current liabilities increased by £138k to £1,429k.
The usable reserves balance of £580k comprises the General Fund. The General Fund balance has
increased by £80k during the year, to set aside funds for consultancy costs associated with
restructuring and collaborative projects. From our surplus earned of £1,392k, £1,312k will be returned
to the constituent Councils.
Cash Flow Statement
The Cash Flow Statement shows a net outflow of cash during 2016/17 of £1,359k. The major
influences behind this movement are an inflow of £2,788k from operating activities, offset by cash
outflows to meet capital and financing expenditure of £4,147k. This has resulted in a bank overdraft
position of £2,049k at 31 March 2017, compared to an overdraft of £690k at 31 March 2016.
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FOREWORD TO THE ACCOUNTS (continued)
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MANAGEMENT COMMENTARY
About us
Tayside Contracts Joint Committee (“Tayside Contracts” or “the Joint
Committee”) is an excellent example of local authorities working together to
the benefit of the public.
It is a commercial trading organisation of Angus, Dundee City and Perth and
Kinross Councils being constituted under a Minute of Agreement entered
into by the three constituent Councils in 1996, following local government
reorganisation.
Tayside Contracts operates under a Joint Committee, comprising of 18
elected members:
- 5 elected members from Angus Council
- 6 elected members from Dundee City Council
- 7 elected members from Perth and Kinross Council

Iain Waddell
Managing Director

Tayside Contracts enables the constituent Councils to benefit from the economies of scale and
retention of specialist services which the organisation offers. Our main business activities are the
provision of catering, cleaning, facilities management, roads maintenance, winter maintenance,
construction and transport related services.
In addition, year on year Tayside Contracts has demonstrated what can be achieved through Councils
sharing resources. Tayside Contracts clearly meets the stated aims of the Scottish Government and
UK Government’s reform agenda of shared services within the public sector being the preferred way
forward for the future.
Tayside Contracts:
 Is unique within Scotland as a joint local authority trading organisation.
 Employs around 2,500 people in 3,330 posts, with a number of employees filling more than
one post.
 Has an annual turnover of £70 million.
 Returns surpluses to the three constituent Councils for reinvestment in services. Since 1996
it has returned some £22 million to the Councils in the form of surpluses.
Our main clients are the constituent Councils and our customers are the residents and businesses
who live and operate in the Tayside area.
Purpose
The purpose of this management commentary is to provide all our stakeholders and the public
pertinent strategic and financial information on the performance of Tayside Contracts for the financial
year 2016/17.
It also identifies the principal risks and challenges the organisation will be facing going forward and
gives details in general terms on how these will be mitigated.
Introduction
2016/17 was the final year of Tayside Contracts’ business plan covering the period of 2014 to 2017.
This business plan has as its theme, “Adapting for Success”. The aim of this business plan is to build
on the many successes of Tayside Contracts, since it was established in 1996, but reflecting the need
to change the organisation and the way in which it delivers services to ensure the maximum service
delivery in the future for the available monies.
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MANAGEMENT COMMENTARY (continued)
The final year of the business plan has been a very successful year delivering strong financial and
business performances. This was assisted by the benefits which accrued from the restructuring of
management roles and responsibilities which were approved by the Joint Committee at its meeting on
23 February 2015. This new structure has now fully bedded in ensuring that Tayside Contracts is
best placed to deal with the challenges and opportunities which the organisation will be facing over
the next few years. A further refinement to the management structure was the introduction of a new
senior management team (SMT) sitting below the corporate management team (CMT). The SMT, we
believe, will also be pivotal in addressing one of the challenges which Tayside Contracts is facing
going forward, namely succession planning.
Results
The significant financial figure for 2016/17 is that, as an organisation, we achieved an overall surplus
of £1,392k which exceeded our budgeted surplus of £750k. This surplus was achieved through the
strong performance and contribution by all parts of the organisation.
Please refer to the Expenditure and Funding Analysis on page 32 for more detail about the surplus for
the year and the contributions of the Construction Division and the Facilities Services Division in
making our surplus.
The surplus being returned to the constituent Councils is well in excess of the budgeted surplus which
the Joint Committee require us to make in terms of the target set in the business plan. The surplus
was achieved from an income of £70,294k which is a 3% decrease on the 2015/16 figure of £72,707k.
Excluding the effects of the accounting adjustments required by International Accounting Standard 19
(IAS19), our two trading operations, namely the Construction and Facilities Services Divisions would
have complied with the requirements of the Local Government in Scotland Act 2003 legislation in
achieving a break-even position over a rolling three year period.
The statutory trading surpluses achieved over the three year period in question are £2,487k for the
Construction Division and £1,383k for the Facilities Services Division. However, after making the
accounting adjustments (IAS 19), Employee Benefits to take account of future pension liabilities, a
notional charge is made against the trading accounts. The effect of this adjustment for the three year
period is to reduce the Facilities Services trading account surplus to a loss of £4,953k, and to turn the
Construction Division position into a loss of £2,465k.
Financial Key Performance Indicators
Key Results

Performance Measure

2016/17
Target

2016/17
Performance

Financial Targets

Turnover

£'000

73,362

X

70,294

Surplus

£'000

750

√

1,312

Stat. Trading A/c - Construction

£'000

225

√

835

Stat. Trading A/c - Facilities

£'000

200

√

504

Cash Flow - Average Overdraft

£'000

(2,500)

√

(751)

Capital Expenditure
Income from Partnerships

£'000
%

1,950
>65%

X
X

2,115
50%

Cash Flow
The management of cash flow is one of the key financial indicators for Tayside Contracts with an
average overdraft target of £2,500k. We are pleased to report that that this has again been achieved
with an average overdraft of £751k. However, this doesn’t tell the whole story as a management
decision was again taken this year not to draw down the money for capital expenditure payments until
the end of the year due to favourable overdraft interest rates.
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MANAGEMENT COMMENTARY (continued)
Debt Management
Along with the cash flow, debt management is one of the key priorities of Tayside Contracts given the
challenging trading conditions, particularly within the Construction industry. The procedures which
were put in place a couple of years ago have once again ensured that the bad debt provision this year
is minimal. Only £300 was written off in 2016/17.
Surplus Distribution
The requirement of our major stakeholders Angus, Dundee City and Perth & Kinross Councils, as
detailed in our business plan report approved by the Joint Committee at its meeting on 16 June 2014,
is that we return to them a minimum surplus of £750k per annum. As a result of this year’s strong
financial performance, a surplus of £1,312k can be returned to the constituent Councils.
The surplus is distributed in terms of the agreed percentage share of the business report which was
approved by the Joint Committee at its meeting on 28 July 2014. This has changed the methodology
used from basing the percentage shares on the previous three years relative turnover figures to a
method that applies only to the previous year’s turnover values.
Therefore, using this methodology the 2016/17 percentages which were calculated based on the
constituent Councils’ turnover for 2015/16 gives Angus Council 33.9%, Dundee City Council 33.2%
and Perth & Kinross Council 32.9%.
The Market
The majority of Tayside Contracts’ income comes from our constituent Councils, either through a
partnering agreement, an awarded works basis or through competitive tendering, depending on each
Council’s best value criteria. In 2016/17 the percentage of work which Tayside Contracts obtained
from the constituent Councils and other public bodies was 94.8%. The balance of the 5.2% of income
not from the constituent Councils was predominantly generated through the sale of materials from
Collace Quarry and external works carried out by the Construction Division.
The information we had available when preparing our budget for 2017/18 was that the overall
workload for the Construction Division from the constituent Councils was expected to be £41,500k,
some £717k (1.8%) more than the budgeted level for 2016/17. There is, however, reasonable
confidence that the share of the available work which we will be able to secure along with income
from third parties will be sufficient to keep the workforce gainfully employed for 2017/18.
In the case of the Facilities Services Division the available budgets along with the projected meal
numbers will also appear to be sufficient to keep the workforce fully employed. The projected income
for this Division is £32,755k some £2,200k (14.9%) more than the budgeted level for 2016/17. This
increase is mainly attributable to the Perth FM transfer which is due to take place in early 2017/18,
movement in the portfolio of schools and offices and the effect on contract prices of labour cost
increases.
In terms of cost pressures, the effect of inflation was not a significant issue in 2016/17, however
things have started to change driven by increasing oil prices and the early effects of Brexit. In
particular we are seeing an increase in food costs of around 8% on the previous contract values with
bitumen and fuel prices also becoming more volatile.
2017/18 also sees an increase in our labour costs which includes i) pension auto enrolment, ii) the
introduction of the Apprenticeship levy and iii) bottom-loaded pay increase. The impact of auto
enrolment, which predominantly will impact on the Facilities Services Division is estimated to be
£259k with the introduction of an Apprenticeship levy by Central Government of 0.5% of the pay bill
estimated to be £165k. The final impact of the bottom-loaded pay increase cannot be fully
determined as it has not yet been agreed, but it will cost in excess of £688k. Not all these costs can
be passed on to clients through contract price increases.
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MANAGEMENT COMMENTARY (continued)
The key to Tayside Contracts’ future success will be our ability to manage, and where possible,
reduce costs throughout the organisation and by working with our clients to change specifications and
methods of service delivery to enable costs both now and in the future to be fully funded. Internally,
savings have already been delivered and will continue to be delivered through the adoption of “Lean”
techniques, known as BIT (Business Improvement Techniques) within the Construction Division.
Similar principles have been applied within the Facilities Services Division and the Support Services
units, to deliver efficiency and costs savings.
Our Employees
The success of Tayside Contracts is very much due to the work of our employees. We are continually
looking for opportunities to improve as an organisation and one of the ways in which we do this is
through seeking the views of our employees and recognising what they do in delivering efficient, cost
effective services to the public.
One of the ways in which we have chosen to recognise the work of our employees is through the
Tayside Contracts Excellence Awards, which we introduced in 2010. The 2016/17 awards ceremony
was held on 19 May 2017, again in the Caird Hall, Dundee with the main award of Team of the Year
being won by the Tay Cuisine team.
The introduction of these awards came about from views expressed by our staff who responded to
our employee survey in 2008. Our employee survey is a very beneficial exercise and is undertaken
every two years. This year, due to the fact that we were due to go through our Investors in People
(IiP) reassessment and reaccreditation review, which required their survey to be sent to employees,
we decided to use this as our employee survey. Our employee survey is the biggest conversation we
have with our workforce and we are pleased to say that 1,334 of nearly 2,300 surveys which were
issued to our employees, 58%, took the time to express their views. IiP will now use these surveys
and follow up 1 to 1 meetings with employees in their review process. Once this review has been
completed we will identify the key actions from the survey and ensure that they are included in future
units’ service improvement plans.
Non-Financial Key Performance Indicators
Key Results

Performance Measure

Environmental

Recycling - Construction

Environmental

SEPA Reportable

Employee Satisfaction

Survey Satisfaction Rating

%

>60%

Employee Retention

Employee turnover

%

10.0%

X

10.8%

IIP Accreditation

Retain Accreditation

Y/N

Y

√

Y

Tayreview Targets

Training plan delivered

%

>85%

√

86%

Equality & Diversity

Annual Equal Pay Audit Success

Y/N

Equality & Diversity

Women in Top 2% Earners

Equality & Diversity
Safety & welfare
Safety & welfare

2016/17
Target
%

Women in Top 5% Earners
Sickness Absence - All Employees
Reportable Accidents
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2016/17
Performance

>90%

√

92%

<3

√

17
61%

Y

n/a

%

n/a

16%

%

n/a

35%

%

<6%

√

5.6%

No

<15

X
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MANAGEMENT COMMENTARY (continued)
Strategy
As already stated, 2016/17 was the final year of our three year business plan, covering the period
2014 to 2017, which was approved by the Joint Committee on 16 June 2014. A new business plan
entitled “The Road to 2020” has been developed building on the previous plan’s successful strategies
and embedding the EFQM Excellence Model principles.
Once again the development of this plan involved input from our key stakeholders through the
involvement of senior managers in the constituent Councils. This business plan was approved by the
new Joint Committee on 26 June 2017.
To ensure the strengthened governance and continued engagement of the constituent Councils we
have continued to involve the Governance and Strategy Group (GSG), which consists of a senior
representative from each of the three Councils, in the quarterly reviews of progress against the aims
and objectives in the existing plan and will continue to do so going forward. In addition to this, and to
further strengthen the governance of what we do, reports of progress against the aims and objectives
in the plan are provided every six months to meetings of the Joint Committee. Also quarterly meetings
are held with the Convener, Vice Convener and Vice Convener (Elect) to discuss all relevant issues.
The theme which has been adopted for the new business plan “The Road to 2020” is what we believe
best reflects what our organisation and our people will have to do over the coming years if we are
going to appropriately deal with the challenges and opportunities which will flow from the ongoing
budget constraints.
The business plan sets out clearly the key strategic aims and objectives for Tayside Contracts and
provides a clear framework of how these will be delivered. Supporting this business plan are
comprehensive corporate and service improvement plans for all divisions and units within the
organisation. These contain details of how each section in the organisation will contribute to the key
aims and objectives detailed in the business plan.
They also identify the key targets and performance indicators which will be used to measure the
achievements of all sections and therefore ultimately the success of Tayside Contracts. The business
plan represents the commitment of Tayside Contracts to adapt our organisation and amend the way
in which we deliver services to meet the ever changing needs of all our clients.
Our vision for Tayside Contracts is:
“to be the preferred business model, delivering an increasingly diverse range of high quality,
cost efficient front line services”.
Our values (the four Ps) lie at the heart of what we do. They will ensure the success and prosperity
of our organisation.


People – We will continually develop our employees, managers and leaders to ensure that
they reach their full potential within the organisation and that we maintain a safe healthy and
well directed workforce.



Performance – We will focus on the delivery of high standards in all that we do, to ensure our
services are delivered in the most efficient way possible.



Partnership – We will continue to develop collaborative relationships, creating partnering
opportunities based on trust, equality and mutual understanding of our shared objectives and
goals.



Perception – We will be regarded as an organisation that is trusted, transparent and
accountable, treating everyone with respect.
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MANAGEMENT COMMENTARY (continued)
Outlook: principal risks, uncertainties and opportunities
We are only too well aware of the reductions in budgets for local authorities which have impacted on
our budget in 2017/18 and the effect that further reductions may have over the coming two or three
years. With the local government elections in May 2017 and the prospect of changes in the
administrations of one or more of our constituent Councils, it is unclear how the Councils will choose
to address these reductions going forward.
However, we believe that our new business plan is structured in a manner which ensures the flexibility
of Tayside Contracts going forward and will enable us to meet any of the challenges which we are
liable to face.
One of the key challenges for Tayside Contracts going forward is succession planning and a lot of
work is going into ensuring that plans are in place to deal with this. However, it is important to
remember that succession planning runs right through the organisation from the front line staff up to
the senior management and there are challenges getting and retaining the correct skills and quality of
staff. Plans are being developed for the various support and development mechanisms which need to
be put in place to address this issue. One of the key strands which we are following is “grow your
own” in which we aim to upskill our workforce to meet the needs of the ever changing delivery
environment in which we find ourselves.
Not only do we have to modernise our management structure but we also have to do this for both our
pay structure and terms and conditions of employment for all our employees to ensure that we have a
workforce capable of responding to the future challenges and opportunities. The review of our pay
structure and terms and conditions of employment which commenced at the end of 2014 was rejected
by the trade unions in the summer of 2016. Despite this we made changes to grades 2 and 3 to
reflect the impact that bottom loaded pay awards were having on the organisation and we also
reviewed the grades of some of our road workers, the post which we were having difficulty in
recruiting. We changed aspects of our expectations for these roles and then had the jobs reevaluated which increased grades 3 and 4 to grades 4 and 5.
At the same time as we are looking at all our costs within Tayside Contracts we are also increasing
the services we deliver to the constituent Councils, for example with the transfer of janitorial and
school crossing patrol services from Perth and Kinross Council to Tayside Contracts which took place
on 1 June 2017. Following a decision by Dundee City Council in October 2016, a project team
consisting of senior officers from Dundee City Council and Tayside Contracts has been established to
develop the proposal to transfer the services and employees of Dundee Construction Services to
Tayside Contracts in 2018.
As an organisation we have shown that we can appropriately respond to these opportunities, with the
transfers that have taken place so far being achieved in a seamless manner and they have all
delivered on significant financial savings to the Councils involved. In addition to this, none of the
employees who transferred in have been disadvantaged in terms of their pay and conditions of
service.
With the drive for collaboration in service delivery by Councils across Scotland, there is the possibility
that one or more of our constituent Councils may ask us to take on further service delivery for them. It
is crucial that the management structure we have in place can respond to these opportunities and that
we also have all the processes in place to ensure that we are flexible enough to respond to these.
We firmly believe that we are now well placed to take on additional services which our constituent
Councils may wish us to undertake and that we can deliver them in different ways than they are at
present with financial savings to the Councils.
In conclusion, we have clear strategies in place, and strong and determined corporate and senior
management teams to ensure that Tayside Contracts continues to build on its past successes to
ensure a successful future in the years to come.
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MANAGEMENT COMMENTARY (continued)
Construction Division Operational Report
General
The end of 2016/17 saw a significant change in the management
structure within Tayside Contracts. Richard Cranney, the long standing
Depute Director (Operations) retired after 23 years service (21 years in
that position). As we all know change is inevitable and is likely to feature
significantly in the coming years with the desire, need and necessity for
more services to be delivered through an integrated shared service
approach. Having recently been appointed to the role of Head of
Operations (replacing Richard), Dougie McKay looks forward to taking
the Unit forward, embracing this change and the inevitable challenges it
will bring.
This was the final year of the Tayside Contracts Business Plan entitled
‘Adapting for Success’ and having been a member of the unit heavily
involved in ensuring this was taken forward, we believe in this changing
landscape of local government service delivery that the division have
embraced the need to adapt and are now well “Equipped to Succeed”.

Dougie McKay
Head of Operations

The year started with a great deal of uncertainty as the effects of central government grant reductions
found their way through at an operational level. It became apparent that road maintenance budgets
were affected to varying degrees across the constituent Councils, in particular the core routine and
reactive maintenance service. This resulted in the year beginning hesitantly in some areas and we
found ourselves a little short of work, however, this picked up as the year progressed, although
highlighting the impact uncertainty can have on the continuity of service delivery. In some ways this is
what the Division has been preparing for as successive business plans have sought to create a lean,
efficient and flexible organisation able to survive in difficult times.
The shift in maintenance strategy by Client departments continued with more work allocated to lower
cost preventative maintenance such as surface dressing, slurry sealing and permanent patching. The
adaptation of this revised strategy has allowed the Division to continue to innovate across many of its
activities and areas of service delivery. The integration of gully inventory collection across the councils
is coming to the end of Phase 1 where the data will assist in rationalising the collection process,
providing a more efficient and effective process. The introduction of automated salting in Dundee has
reduced the volume of salt used, reducing costs and benefiting the environment. The levels of
potential savings available across all the council may vary however, it demonstrates the benefits
technology can have in delivering efficiency.
The newly created surfacing process “Taydress” is the Division’s innovative cold mix surfacing
material ‘Tayset’ combined with surface dressing to produce a lower cost treatment for lightly
trafficked roads. This was used more extensively across the area, encouraging staff to consider other
product developments to add to the portfolio of preventative treatment options. This adaptable
approach has led to the development of a reduced cost surfacing material that can be laid at a
thickness of 25mm, allowing existing surfaces to be overlayed, negating the need for material to be
removed.
The rationalisation of vehicle workshops and the introduction of shift patterns have improved
efficiency within the Transport Unit in the past; the most recent addition to this is the opening of the
Peasiehill workshop in Arbroath, allowing two existing workshops to close offering a modern state of
the art facility for vehicle maintenance in the Angus area. These innovations and integrated approach
to service delivery demonstrate the Division’s ongoing desire for continuous improvement for the
benefit of our constituent Councils.
Surface dressing remains an integral part of the division’s operations and a process clients are using
more and more to deliver the preventative strategy. The programme continues to expand with this
year being the largest that has been undertaken for a number of years and included work undertaken
for the constituent Councils and for other authorities across Scotland.
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Major projects were also undertaken with the completion of enabling works for the proposed Regional
Sports Facility in Dundee and the construction of a reed bed recycling facility, the third such facility
available across the Council areas.
Whilst reports of this nature tend to concentrate on the bigger issues of innovation, technology or
larger contracts, the core work of the Division is in delivering routine and cyclic works on the road
network that go largely unnoticed unless, of course, something goes wrong! We are very proud of the
workforce that deliver this core work day in and day out and who go largely unsung except for the
occasional accolade for a job well done. The safety of the travelling public is frequently in their hands
as they repair potholes and patches, ensure that street lighting is in operation, clean gullies and
undertake many safety related works on the road network.
As has been the case for many of these annual reports weather plays a part in the service provision
and subsequent financial performance. There have been significant winter events and flood events in
the last 10 years, fortunately not in the same year. During this 10 year period we have had the variety
of coldest, wettest and driest on record, all of which offer differing challenges operationally and
financially. This year has been no different. The past winter has seen the second lowest number of
hours worked in history, 30,000 hours compared to 96,000 hours in 2010/11. However, although
minimal activity over the core period of October to March, the winter extended into late April with snow
experienced in many areas after the season had technically finished. This required arrangements to
be made in all areas to extend the service provision well beyond the usual cut-off date. The ability of
the Division to undertake the vast majority of road maintenance activities including winter, surface
dressing and large construction projects enables the organisation to adapt quickly to changing
circumstances and provides client departments with an adaptable and flexible resource that is hard to
match.
Every year brings with it its own challenges and this year was no exception, but once again the
Division has proven equal to the task meeting, and often exceeding, the five key objectives set for it
in the business plan. This year was one in which, by continually adapting, the Division achieved
success.
Construction Division Future
As highlighted at the start of this overview, we are in a period of change, this is both as a Division and
in the future delivery of road maintenance services across the constituent Councils. The annual event
regarding central government grant reductions and how this is likely to impact on service delivery will
not change, there is no question to this. The Division has worked closely with clients to drive
efficiency and to minimise the impact of such cuts over the years. Although many of these have now
been exhausted, a positive approach must continue as our recent journey has equipped the Division
to succeed. The pace of change will not ease and although there is a necessity for this to progress, it
will be critical to ensure that the efforts required to implement such changes do not detract from the
current job in hand. Regardless of the ultimate decision on future road maintenance delivery, the
Division will continue to deliver services for the benefit of the people it serves in the best way that it
can.
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Facilities Division Operational Report
The Facilities Services Division continues to successfully pursue our strategic
goal of expanding and diversifying. In 2016/17 all of the Division’s core and
newly acquired functions outperformed both financial and service standard
targets.
From the merger of catering and cleaning services in 2011 to the transfer of
janitorial and school crossing patrol services from Angus and Dundee City
Councils in 2014 the Division has embraced the challenge of translating the
rhetoric of more efficient shared services into reality. During 2016/17 a
tremendous amount of work has gone into securing the transfer of janitorial
and school crossing patrol services from Perth and Kinross Council.
This transfer happened on 1 June 2017 and we will eventually deliver cash
efficiency savings of £200k per annum, annually, from 2019. In addition to the
financial savings, we fully anticipate that our customers throughout Perth and
Kinross will experience significant improvements in the quality of the merged
services, as has been the experience in Angus and Dundee.

Frank Reilly,
Head of FM and
Human
Resources

Within Facilities Services Division we have the people, we have the talent, we have the imagination,
we have the technology. Most importantly, we believe we have the leadership capacity and the
willingness to accept risk to achieve our strategic goals. An ‘achievement’ that carries no risk is no
achievement at all. In our current and likely future environment, of tight budgets and tough choices
for our political leaders, having an appetite for risk and an ability to manage risk is a business
imperative and the need for brave and imaginative leadership has never been so great.
Over the years we have tirelessly strived to create and further embed an organisational culture of
empowerment supported by a ‘never-decreasing’ training budget. This has produced impressive
leadership skills at every level of management and supervision and Tayside Contracts can be rightly
proud of our commitment to employee development over the years which has enabled us to largely
‘grow our own’ leaders. The benefit of this, of course, is that those who come through the ranks are
steeped in Tayside Contracts culture and values. What is the Tayside Contracts cultural ethos we
hear you ask? We cannot encapsulate it any better or more succinctly than did our very sage and
much-missed former Depute Director, Richard Cranney, who coined the strapline:
‘Tayside Contracts is an organisation with a head for business and a heart for people.’
This is what has enabled Tayside Contracts to deliver, often against the odds, year after year since
1996. The commercialisation of local government is high on the agenda of most local authorities
these days, as it should be. Tayside Contracts was ‘commercialised’ within a local government
context 21 years ago and our leaders continue to ensure that everything we do is driven by a
commercial imperative. You only have to walk around and watch and listen to our workforce in action
to see what this means in practice. Our Cooks-in-Charge are a perfect example. They treat each of
their school kitchens as if it was their own personal business franchise. Their commitment to
delivering a service that will maximise income and drive down costs whilst delivering high quality
services is quite something to behold.
As you read the rest of this report you will see testimony to the impressive outcomes arising from our
unique organisational culture.
Facilities Management (FM) Unit
This has been an extremely successful year for the FM Unit, with income up £400k compared to the
previous year.
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The integration of FM services provided to Angus and Dundee City Councils continues to deliver
combined recurring annual savings of £430k. As importantly, the change in culture and ethos
amongst those who deliver the services is already evident with a more customer-focused attitude
evident amongst managers and the frontline workforce.
It was extremely gratifying to learn recently of the results of a survey of all Head Teachers carried out
by Dundee City Council. When asked whether they felt that FM services to their schools were worse,
better, about the same or much better than prior to the transfer, 85% of Head Teachers declared
‘much better’ - high praise indeed!
As ever, 2016/17 saw further productivity improvements in our cleaning services, which were largely
facilitated by our continued investment in new machines and products. This is vital to ensuring that
Tayside Contracts remains in the vanguard of the FM industry and maintains our professional image
and competitive edge.
With regard to school crossing patrol services, many of the difficulties faced by Angus and Dundee
City Councils in delivering these services have already been addressed. We are particularly pleased
to note that Dundee City Council has adopted our suggestion to use the Royal Society for the
Prevention of Accidents (RoSPA) formula (which is already used by Angus Council) for establishing
where school crossing patrol points are required. This will help allay the concerns of parents who
have previously felt that crossing points were being commissioned or de-commissioned too
subjectively. We are no looking forward to applying a similar approach within Perth and Kinross
Council when their janitorial and school crossing patrol services transfer to Tayside Contracts on 1
June 2017.
Catering Unit
2016/17 has been another impressive year for the Catering Unit in terms of increases in meal sales
and improvements in cost-efficiency. During 2016/17, the Unit provided over 5.7 million school meals
throughout Tayside, an increase of over 6% compared to 2015/16. Our performance is actually even
more impressive than it may at first appear as there has been a reduction in the total school roll
across Tayside and also a reduction the number of pupils entitled to free meals.
The Catering Unit is ever-considering ways of adapting its service offering to best suit our customers.
The ‘Tayside Contracts Way’ is to listen to our service users and identify new ways of delivering
services which are tailored to suit their wishes and are also economically viable. Examples of this
include meal deals, food packaging and presentational changes and the use of mobile catering units.
The extent of competition in the secondary school catering environment (i.e. the lure of readily
accessible fast food outlets with poor nutritional value) cannot be underestimated. To continue to
address the challenges this presents a formal review of the secondary schools meals service was
completed during 2016/17. The review was carried out on a school-by-school basis and focused on
all aspects of the service; from the dining environment, style of service to the menu options available.
The findings and recommendations of the review are now being implemented and the roll-out will
continue during 2017/18.
One of the most important initiatives launched during 2016/17 was our new ‘street food’ concepts
which were developed for secondary schools. Tayside-wide road shows launched the new concepts
which have been available to pupils since mid-October 2016. This has undoubtedly had a positive
effect on secondary school meal uptake and forms part of Tayside Contracts’ ongoing commitment to
providing a healthy ‘street food’ option that can compete with the less healthy options available on the
‘high street’.
Community Meals
Tayside Contracts continues to provide community meals (otherwise known as ‘meals on wheels’),
predominantly in Dundee, which are produced at our impressive purpose-built facility, Tay Cuisine.
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We have also developed an interactive menu for community meals where menus can be viewed by
our consumers, family members and allied health professionals allowing them to link to photographic
imagery of the meals, nutritional and allergy information giving all parties the opportunity to make well
informed choices.
The introduction of Self-Directed Support, which gave the individual greater choice as to who should
provide their meals is potentially a threat to Tay Cuisine’s community meals service. However,
through working closely with our Dundee City Council colleagues and the Integrated Joint Board we
aim to ensure that Tay Cuisine remains the provider of choice for community meals in Dundee, and,
ideally, further afield.
Facilities Services Division – the Future
The future holds many challenges and exciting opportunities for the Facilities Services Division. It is
recognised that we must continue to devise innovative and ambitious strategic plans to improve the
quality, efficiency and the range of services we provide.
Within the FM Unit a key objective in 2017/18 is to embed the Perth and Kinross Council integrated
FM service delivery model as effectively as we did previously in Angus and Dundee.
Within Catering, 2017/18 will see the full implementation of the changes to the secondary school
meals service which were recommended in the review of the service carried out in 2016/17.
Potentially the most exciting aspect of our school catering strategy is the proposed development of a
central production unit which would provide primary school meals across Tayside. This initiative is
currently being evaluated by Tayside Contracts and the constituent Councils and a decision as to
whether to proceed with the project is expected in late-2017.
2017/18 will also see yet another streamlining of the Facilities Services Division’s management and
administrative structure – yet again we will realise the savings from innovative process efficiencies by
significantly reducing our overhead costs.
As with all parts of Tayside Contracts, the Facilities Services Division is committed to achieving
efficiencies and service improvements. However, we recognise that all of our achievements are
largely due to the skills, endeavour and dedication of our employees. Therefore, whilst being
committed to modernising the way we deliver our services in future we are equally mindful of our
obligation to protect, as far as is reasonably practicable, our workforce - their job security, their
income security and their career advancement prospects. They are our most valuable assets and are
the key to our continuing success as providers of high quality, affordable catering and FM services,
which we aim to ensure remain the envy of our competitors.

Iain C Waddell BSc, C Eng, MICE
Managing Director
Tayside Contracts
Contracts House
1 Soutar Street
Dundee
DD3 8SS

Gregory Colgan BAcc (Hons), ACMA, CGMA
Proper Officer
Tayside Contracts

Councillor Angus Forbes
Convener
Tayside Contracts Joint Committee
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ANNUAL GOVERNANCE STATEMENT
Scope of Responsibility
Tayside Contracts Joint Committee is responsible for ensuring that its business is conducted in
accordance with the law and appropriate standards thereby ensuring that public funds and assets at
its disposal are safeguarded, properly accounted for and used economically, efficiently and
effectively. The Joint Committee also has a duty to secure continuous improvement in the way its
services are delivered.
In discharging these responsibilities, elected members and senior officers are responsible for
implementing effective arrangements for governing the Joint Committee’s affairs and facilitating the
effective exercise of its functions, including arrangements for the management of risk.
To this end the Joint Committee has approved and adopted a local Code of Corporate Governance
that is consistent with the principles of the CIPFA/SOLACE framework Delivering Good Governance
in Local Government. Tayside Contracts’ Chief Finance Officer's (Proper Officer) complies with the
principles set out in CIPFA's Role of the Chief Financial Officer (2016). This statement explains how
Tayside Contracts Joint Committee delivers good governance and reviews the effectiveness of these
arrangements.
The Joint Committee’s Governance Framework
The governance framework comprises the systems, processes, cultures and values by which the
Joint Committee is directed and controlled. It also describes the way it engages with, accounts to and
leads the local community through the services it provides to the three constituent Councils. It
enables the Joint Committee to monitor the achievement of its objectives and consider whether those
objectives have resulted in the delivery of appropriate, cost effective services.
The Local Code of Corporate Governance is supported by detailed evidence of compliance which is
reviewed by the Managing Director and the Corporate Management Team.
Within the overall control arrangements, the system of internal financial control is intended to ensure
that assets are safeguarded, transactions are authorised and properly recorded and material errors or
irregularities are either prevented or would be detected within a timely period. It is based on a
framework of regular management information, financial regulations, administrative procedures
(including segregation of duties), management supervision and a system of delegation and
accountability.
The overall control arrangements include:

















Identifying the Joint Committee’s objectives in the Business Plan, subsequently translated into
actions in corporate, divisional and unit service improvement plans
Monitoring of objectives and service performance by senior officers of the Joint Committee
Comprehensive revenue and capital budgeting systems
Setting targets to measure financial and other performance
Preparation of regular financial monitoring reports which indicate actual and projected
expenditure against budget
Annual financial reports which indicate actual financial performance against budget
Clearly defined Standing Orders, Scheme of Delegation, Financial Regulations and Tender
Procedures
Formal project appraisal techniques and project management disciplines
An anti-fraud and corruption strategy supported by a range of policies and guidelines
Regular reporting of performance and projected outcomes to the Joint Committee
Public performance reporting by means of an Annual Performance Report
Information security policy
Employee code of conduct
Employee related matters and policies
Annual performance appraisals
Risk management strategy
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Review of Effectiveness
Members and officers of the Joint Committee are committed to the concept of sound governance and
the effective delivery of services and take into account comments made by external auditors and
other review agencies and inspectorates. The effectiveness of the governance framework is reviewed
annually by the Managing Director and the Corporate Management Team, including the use of a selfassessment tool involving completion of a 54-point checklist covering seven key areas of governance:








Service Planning and Performance Management
Internal Control Environment
Fraud Prevention and Detection
Budgeting, Accounting and Financial Control
Risk Management and Business Continuity
Asset Management
Partnerships

This self-assessment indicates a high level of compliance.
The Joint Committee operates a range of corporate financial systems, which are subject to review by
both internal audit and by the external auditor, Audit Scotland, who have been appointed for the five
year period from 2016/17. Wylie Bisset has been appointed as internal auditors for 3 years from
2016/17. A strategic internal audit plan was developed from which the audit plan for 2016/17 was
formulated and approved by the Joint Committee.
The internal audit service operates in accordance with the CIPFA Code of Practice for Internal Audit
in Local Government in the United Kingdom and takes cognisance of the standards promoted by
CIPFA and other external organisations such as Audit Scotland. In undertaking its duties the internal
audit service has unrestricted access to all data and records and is responsible for providing an
independent opinion to the Joint Committee on the effectiveness of the internal control environment
and the degree to which it supports and promotes the achievement of the Joint Committee’s
objectives. The key thrust of internal audit work is to objectively examine, evaluate and report on the
adequacy of internal control as a contribution to the proper, economic, efficient and effective use of
resources.
The key areas covered in the 2016/17 internal audit programme were:








Budgetary and Financial Controls – HR & Payroll
Transport – Fleet Management (utilisation and asset management)
IT General Controls
Corporate Governance
Risk Management
Workforce Planning
Follow up Review of previous years’ actions

A significant amount of focused internal audit work has been carried out by Wylie Bisset and agreed
reports and action plans have been presented to the Joint Committee. All agreed areas for
improvement identified are being progressed to appropriate timescales, as are actions brought
forward from previous years’ audits. The majority of the remaining agreed actions brought forward are
either fully implemented or partly/substantially complete. In the annual internal audit report presented
to the Joint Committee, Wylie & Bisset provide an independent opinion which reports positively on the
adequacy and effectiveness of risk management, control and governance processes to manage the
achievement of Tayside Contracts objectives subject to the overall conclusion from the IT General
Controls Review where there 3 high priority recommendations raised, which has had the action plan
agreed by the Joint Committee.
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The existence of an internal audit service does not diminish the responsibility of management to
ensure the effectiveness of internal financial control in the Joint Committee’s systems and
dependence should not be placed on this service as a substitute for effective controls.
Continuous Improvement
The annual review of corporate governance arrangements and their effectiveness identified the
following areas for improvement in 2016/17 which were completed during the year:






Monitoring the effectiveness of the newly formed IT user group.
Reviewing the Information Security Policy to ensure it is fit for purpose.
Developing Procurement guidance to aid compliance with the recent changes in legislation.
Updating the information on the intranet on current contracts in place.
Considering the inclusion of an element of performance review in the appraisal process for
staff below grade 7.

Other areas identified in 2016/17 which are ongoing due to their nature are:






Ensuring consistency in the approach to developing Service Improvement Plans and
improving the dissemination of the information from these.
Developing Polish versions of our employment policies.
Developing standard operating procedures for non-key activities (included in the Corporate
Improvement Plan).
Continuing work reviewing and seeking improved means of processing and providing
information (included in the Corporate Improvement Plan).
Continuing management development programmes to ameliorate succession planning
concerns (included in the Corporate Improvement Plan).

The annual review of corporate governance arrangements and their effectiveness has identified the
additional areas for improvement, which will be progressed during 2017/18:








Regularly reviewing access and permissions to all Tayside Contracts systems.
Revising anti-fraud guidelines.
Ensuring procedures for investigating National Fraud Initiative matches are working
effectively.
Developing Anti-Money Laundering Policies, Guidance and Reporting procedures.
Revising Risk Management strategy.
Testing IT Business Continuity & Disaster Recovery Plan.
Reviewing all other Business Continuity Plans and further training on these.

In conclusion it is our opinion that the annual review of governance together with the work of internal
and external auditors and certifications of assurance from senior managers provide sufficient
evidence that the principles of good governance operated effectively and the Joint Committee
complies with the Local Code of Corporate Governance in all significant respects. It is proposed
through 2017/18 that steps are taken to address the areas identified for improvement to further
enhance the Joint Committee’s governance arrangements.

Iain C Waddell BSc, C Eng, MICE
Managing Director
Tayside Contracts

Councillor Angus Forbes
Convener
Tayside Contracts Joint Committee
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ANNUAL REMUNERATION REPORT
Introduction
Tayside Contracts is required to prepare and publish within its Statement of Accounts an Annual
Remuneration Report under the Local Authority Accounts (Scotland) Amendment Regulations 2011
(Scottish Statutory Instrument Number 2011/64), which came into force on 31 March 2011. The
following report has been prepared in accordance with the aforementioned Regulations and also in
accordance with the non-statutory guidance set out in Scottish Government Finance Circular 8/2011,
issued on 13 May 2011.
The report sets out the remuneration and accrued pension benefits of the Senior Employees of the
organisation. The report also provides information on the number of employees (including Senior
Employees) whose total actual remuneration was £50,000 or more, this information being disclosed in
salary bandings of £5,000.
Tayside Contracts’ External Auditor is required to audit certain parts of the Remuneration Report and
give a separate opinion in his report as to whether the Remuneration Report has been properly
prepared in accordance with the Regulations. The tables “General Disclosure by Pay Band” and
“Remuneration for Relevant Persons”, along with the Pension Benefits section are subject to audit,
and the remainder of the report is subject to review.
Remuneration Arrangements
The salary of senior employees is set by reference to national arrangements.
The Scottish Joint Negotiating Committee (SJNC) for Local Authority Services sets the salaries for the
Chief Executives of Scottish Local Authorities. Circular CO/148 sets the amount of salary for the
Chief Executives of the Scottish Local Authorities for the period 2015 to 2017.
The salary of Tayside Contracts’ Managing Director is based on a comparison with Chief Officials
within other local authorities and takes account of the unique additional responsibilities of this post
compared to that of these posts. This was agreed by the Joint Committee at its meeting on 27
January 2003, report number JC1/2003 entitled “Review of Chief Officers’ Salaries” refers.
General Disclosure by Pay Band
The table below details the number of employees whose remuneration was £50,000 or more.

Remuneration Bands ( £ )

Number of Employees
2015-16
2016-17
3
3
2
4
1
1
1
1
1
1
1

50,000 – 54,999
55,000 – 59,999
65,000 – 69,999
75,000 – 79,999
80,000 – 84,999
85,000 – 89,999
105,000 – 110,000
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Remuneration for Relevant Persons
This following table provides details of the remuneration for those employees designated as being
“Senior Employees” within the relevant legislative guidance.
The senior employees included in the report include any employee who has responsibility for
management of the organisation to the extent that the person has power to direct or control the major
activities of the organisation (including activities involving the expenditure of money), during the year
to which the Report relates, whether solely or collectively with other persons, and as such, constitutes
the members of the Corporate Management Team of Tayside Contracts.

Post
Managing Director
Depute Director- Operations
Head of FM and Human Resources

Post Holder
Iain Waddell
Richard Cranney
Frank Reilly

2016/17 Total
Remuneration
£’000
108
88
81

2015/16 Total
Remuneration
£’000
107
87
80

There is no remuneration paid in respect of Councillors by Tayside Contracts.
Pension Benefits
The Local Government (Discretionary Payments and Injury Benefits) (Scotland) Regulations 1998
make provision for authorities to make discretionary payments to local government employees to pay
compensation for premature retirement. A person who has been granted a credited period is entitled
to receive compensation in the form of a lump sum and is also entitled to receive annual
compensation. Where applicable, both the lump sum and annual compensation is included within the
compensation for loss of employment category.
Pension disclosure
Pension benefits for local government employees are provided through the Local Government
Pension Scheme (LGPS).
For local government employees from 1 April 2015 this is a career average pension scheme. Prior to
this it was a final salary pension scheme. The scheme’s normal retirement age for employees is 65.
At 1 April 2009 a five tier contribution system was introduced with contributions from scheme
members being based on how much pay falls into each tier. This was designed to give more equality
between the cost and benefits of scheme membership as prior to that the contributions rates were set
at 6% for all non-manual employees. In 2014/15 this changed going forward to having more tiers and
contribution rates.
The marginal rates of pension contribution paid by members, including Senior Employees, are shown
in the table below. The contributions to the pension scheme made by the Senior Employees included
in this report in 2016/17 amounted to £27k.
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Whole Time Pay
On earnings up to and including
£20,500
On earnings above £20,500 and up to
£25,000
On earnings above £25,000 and up to
£34,400
On earnings above £34,400 and up to
£45,800
On earnings above £45,800

Contribution
Rate
2016/17
5.50%

Contribution
Rate
2015/16
5.50%

7.25%

7.25%

8.50%

8.50%

9.50%

9.50%

12.00%

12.00%

If a person works part-time their contribution rate is worked out on the whole-time pay rate for the job,
with actual contributions paid on actual pay earned. There is no automatic entitlement to a lump sum.
Members may opt to give up (commute) pension for lump sum up to the limit set by the Finance Act
2004. From 1 April 2015 the scheme is a career average scheme; prior to this it was a final salary
based scheme where the accrual rate guarantees a pension based on 1/60th of final pensionable
salary and years of pensionable service. (Prior to 2009 the accrual rate guaranteed a pension based
on 1/80th and a lump sum based on 3/80th of final pensionable salary and years of pensionable
service).
Assumptions and Contextual Information
The value of the accrued benefits has been calculated on the basis of the age at which the person will
first become entitled to receive a pension on retirement without reduction on account of its payment at
that age; without exercising any option to commute pension entitlement into a lump sum; and without
any adjustment for the effects of future inflation. The pension figures shown relate to the benefits that
the person has accrued as consequence of their total local government service, and not just their
current appointment.
Pension Benefits of Senior Employees
The pension entitlements of Senior Employees for the year to 31 March 2017 are shown in the table
below, together with the contribution made by the Joint Committee to each Senior Employees’
pension during the year.

Post

Post Holder

In-year pension
contributions
For Year
For Year
to 31
to 31
March
March
2016
2017
£’000
£’000

Managing Director

Iain Waddell

18

18

Depute Director
(Operations)
Head of FM and Human
Resources

Richard
Cranney

15

15

Frank Reilly

14

14

* Richard Cranney retired on 31 March 2017
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£’000
Pension
Lump Sum
Pension
Lump Sum
Pension
Lump Sum

Accrued Pension
Benefits
As at
Difference
31
from 31
March
March
2017
2016
£’000
£’000
45
3
90
2
36
(9)
239*
143*
27
2
47
1

ANNUAL REMUNERATION REPORT (continued)
In considering the accrued pension benefits figures the following contextual information should be
taken into account:
(i)

the figures for pension and lump sum are illustrative only in light of the assumptions set out
above and do not necessarily reflect the actual benefits that any individual may receive upon
retirement.

(ii)

the accrued benefits figures are reflective of the pension contributions that both the employer
and the scheme member have made over a period of time. In 2016/17, the scheme member
effective contribution rate for Senior Employees was in the range of 9.3% to 10.0% of
pensionable pay. In 2016/17, the employer contribution rate was 17.0% of pensionable pay
for all members, including Senior Employees.

Exit packages
During the year, a number of exit packages were paid. The total cost per band and total cost of all exit
packages are set out in the table below:
2015/16

2016/17

2015/16

2016/17

Number of
departures

Number of
departures

Cost of
departures

Cost of
departures

Number

Number

£’000

£’000

Voluntary
£0

-

£20,000

6

6

31

57

£20,001

-

£40,000

3

1

90

36

£40,001

-

£60,000

-

-

-

-

£60,001

-

£80,000

-

-

-

-

£80,001

-

£100,000

1

-

87

-

£100,001

-

£120,000

-

-

-

-

£120,001

-

£140,000

-

-

-

-

£140,001

-

£160,000

-

-

-

-

£160,001

-

£180,000

-

-

-

-

£180,001

-

£200,000

1

-

192

-

11

7

400

93

-

1

-

1

-

-

-

-

-

1

-

1

11

8

400

94

Total voluntary exits
Compulsory
£20,001 and over
£0

£20,000

Total compulsory exits
Total exit packages

Iain C Waddell BSc, C Eng, MICE
Managing Director
Tayside Contracts

Councillor Angus Forbes
Convener
Tayside Contracts Joint Committee
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STATEMENT OF RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTS
The Responsibilities of the Joint Committee
The Joint Committee is required to:







Make arrangements for the proper administration of its financial affairs and to secure that the
proper officer of the authority has responsibility for the administration of those affairs (section 95
of the Local Government (Scotland) Act 1973). In this authority, that officer is the Director of
Corporate Services, Dundee City Council as Proper Officer for this purpose while the daily
management of the financial affairs is conducted by the Managing Director of Tayside Contracts.
Manage its affairs to secure economic, efficient and effective use of resources and safeguard its
assets.
Ensure the Annual Accounts are prepared in accordance with legislation (The Local Authority
Accounts (Scotland) Regulations 2014), and so far as is compatible with that legislation, in
accordance with proper accounting practices (section 12 of the Local Government in Scotland Act
2003).
Approve the Annual Accounts for signature.

I confirm that these Annual Accounts were approved for signature by the Joint Committee at its
meeting on 28 August 2017.
Signed on behalf of Tayside Contracts

Councillor Angus Forbes
Convener, Tayside Contracts Joint Committee
The Responsibilities of the Proper Officer
The Proper Officer is responsible for the preparation of Tayside Contracts’ Statement of Accounts in
terms of the CIPFA/ LASAAC Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom
(‘the Code of Practice’).
In preparing this Statement of Accounts, the Proper Officer has:





Selected suitable accounting policies and then applied them consistently
Made judgements and estimates that were reasonable and prudent
Complied with legislation
Complied with the Code of Practice.

The Proper Officer has also:



Kept proper accounting records which were up to date
Taken reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.

I certify that the financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of Tayside
Contracts at the reporting date and the transactions of Tayside Contracts for the year ended 31 March
2017.

Gregory Colgan BAcc (Hons), ACMA, CGMA
Proper Officer, Tayside Contracts
28 August 2017
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS
OF TAYSIDE CONTRACTS JOINT COMMITTEE AND THE
ACCOUNTS COMMISSION
This report is made solely to the parties to whom it is addressed in accordance with Part VII of the
Local Government (Scotland) Act 1973 and for no other purpose. In accordance with paragraph 120
of the Code of Audit Practice approved by the Accounts Commission, I do not undertake to have
responsibilities to members or officers, in their individual capacities, or to third parties.
Report on the audit of the financial statements
Opinion on financial statements
I certify that I have audited the financial statements in the annual accounts of Tayside Contracts Joint
Committee for the year ended 31 March 2017 under Part VII of the Local Government (Scotland) Act
1973. The financial statements comprise the Movement in Reserves Statement, Comprehensive
Income and Expenditure Statement, Balance Sheet, Cash Flow Statement and Expenditure and
Funding Analysis and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting
policies. The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is applicable law
and International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union, and as
interpreted and adapted by the Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom
2016/17 (the 2016/17 Code).
In my opinion the accompanying financial statements:

give a true and fair view in accordance with applicable law and the 2016/17 Code of the state of
affairs of the joint committee as at 31 March 2017 and of the deficit on the provision of services
of the Joint Committee for the year then ended;

have been properly prepared in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the European Union, as
interpreted and adapted by the 2016/17 Code; and

have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Local Government (Scotland)
Act 1973, The Local Authority Accounts (Scotland) Regulations 2014, and the Local Government
in Scotland Act 2003.
Basis of opinion
I conducted my audit in accordance with applicable law and International Standards on Auditing in the
UK and Ireland (ISAs (UK&I)). My responsibilities under those standards are further described in the
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of my report. I am
independent of the joint committee in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to my
audit of the financial statements in the UK including the Financial Reporting Council’s Ethical
Standards for Auditors, and I have fulfilled my other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these
requirements. I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide
a basis for my opinion.
Responsibilities of the proper officer for the financial statements
As explained more fully in the Statement of Responsibilities, the proper officer is responsible for the
preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with the financial
reporting framework, and for such internal control as the proper officer determines is necessary to
enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due
to fraud or error.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS
OF TAYSIDE CONTRACTS JOINT COMMITTEE AND THE
ACCOUNTS COMMISSION (continued)
Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements
My responsibility is to audit and express an opinion on the financial statements in accordance with
applicable legal requirements and ISAs (UK&I) as required by the Code of Audit Practice approved by
the Accounts Commission. Those standards require me to comply with the Financial Reporting
Council’s Ethical Standards for Auditors. An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements sufficient to give reasonable assurance that the financial
statements are free from material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or error. This includes an
assessment of: whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the circumstances of the joint
committee and have been consistently applied and adequately disclosed; the reasonableness of
significant accounting estimates made by the proper officer; and the overall presentation of the
financial statements.
My objectives are to achieve reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes my opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK&I) will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material
if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.
Other information in the annual accounts
The proper officer is responsible for the other information in the annual accounts. The other
information comprises the information other than the financial statements and my auditor’s report
thereon. My opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and I do not
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon except on matters prescribed by the Accounts
Commission to the extent explicitly stated later in this report.
In connection with my audit of the financial statements in accordance with ISAs (UK&I), my
responsibility is to read all the financial and non-financial information in the annual accounts to identify
material inconsistencies with the audited financial statements and to identify any information that is
apparently materially incorrect based on, or materially inconsistent with, the knowledge acquired by
me in the course of performing the audit. If I become aware of any apparent material misstatements
or inconsistencies I consider the implications for my report.
Report on other requirements
Opinions on other prescribed matters
I am required by the Accounts Commission to express an opinion on the following matters.
In my opinion, the auditable part of the Remuneration Report has been properly prepared in
accordance with The Local Authority Accounts (Scotland) Regulations 2014.
In my opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit

the information given in the Management Commentary for the financial year for which the
financial statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements and that report has
been prepared in accordance with statutory guidance issued under the Local Government in
Scotland Act 2003; and

the information given in the Annual Governance Statement for the financial year for which the
financial statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements and that report has
been prepared in accordance with the Delivering Good Governance in Local Government:
Framework (2016).

26

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS
OF TAYSIDE CONTRACTS JOINT COMMITTEE AND THE
ACCOUNTS COMMISSION (continued)
Matters on which I am required to report by exception
I am required by the Accounts Commission to report to you if, in my opinion:

adequate accounting records have not been kept; or

the financial statements and the auditable part of the Remuneration Report are not in agreement
with the accounting records; or

I have not received all the information and explanations I require for my audit; or

there has been a failure to achieve a prescribed financial objective.
I have the following to report in respect of these matters:
The Joint Committee has a duty under section 10 of the Local Government in Scotland Act 2003 to
conduct each of its significant trading operations so that income is not less than expenditure over
each three year period. I have considered the adequacy of the disclosure made in notes 5 and 6
concerning the joint committee’s duty under section 10 of the Local Government in Scotland Act 2003
in respect of its significant trading operations. As described in notes 5 and 6, which I consider to be
adequate disclosure of a failure to achieve a prescribed financial objective, the Joint Committee failed
to comply with the statutory requirement to break even over the three year period 2014/15 to 2016/17
in respect of the Construction and Facilities significant trading activities.
I have nothing to report in respect of the other matters.

Bruce Crosbie FCCA
Senior Audit Manager
4th Floor, 102 Westport
Edinburgh
EH3 9DN
29 August 2017
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MOVEMENT IN RESERVES STATEMENT FOR THE YEAR
ENDED 31 MARCH

General
Fund
Balance
£’000

Capital
Receipts
Reserve
(Note 26)
£’000

Total
Usable
Reserves
£’000

Total
Unusable
Reserves
(Note 27)
£’000

Total
Reserves
£’000

500

-

500

(30,060)

(29,560)

Deficit on provision of services
Other Comprehensive Income and
Expenditure

(4,976)
-

-

(4,976)
-

6,641

(4,976)
6,641

Total Comprehensive Income and
Expenditure

(4,976)

-

(4,976)

6,641

1,665

Adjustments between accounting basis and
funding basis under regulations (Note 13)

6,774

-

6,774

(6,774)

-

Net Increase/(Decrease) before Transfers
to Statutory and Other Reserves

1,798

-

1,798

(133)

1,665

(1,798)

-

(1,798)

-

(1,798)

-

-

-

(133)

(133)

500

-

500

(30,193)

(29,693)

(1,843)
-

-

(1,843)
-

(15,873)

(1,843)
(15,873)

(1,843)

-

(1,843)

(15,873)

(17,716)

Adjustments between accounting basis and
funding basis under regulations (Note 13)

3,235

-

3,325

(3,235)

-

Net Increase/(Decrease) before Transfers
to Statutory and Other Reserves

1,392

-

1,392

(19,108)

(17,716)

(1,312)

-

(1,312)

-

(1,312)

Increase/ (decrease) in Year

80

-

80

(19,108)

(19,028)

Balance as at 31 March 2017

580

-

580

(49,301)

(48,721)

Balance as at 31 March 2015
Movement in Reserves During the Year

Contributions to constituent Councils

Decrease in Year
Balance as at 31 March 2016
Movement in Reserves During the Year
Deficit on provision of services
Other Comprehensive Income and
Expenditure
Total Comprehensive Income and
Expenditure

Contributions to constituent Councils

The notes on pages 33 to 59 form an integral part of these financial statements
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COMPREHENSIVE INCOME AND EXPENDITURE STATEMENT FOR
THE YEAR TO 31 MARCH

Note
Gross
Expenditure
£’000

2015/16
Gross
Income
£’000

Net
£’000

Gross
Expenditure
£’000

2016/17
Gross
Income
£’000

Net
£’000

Construction Division

8

(43,842)

43,020

(822)

(39,135)

39,426

291

Facilities Services
Division

8

(32,460)

29,687

(2,773)

(31,658)

30,868

(790)

(76,302)

72,707

(3,595)

(70,793)

70,294

(499)

Deficit on Continuing
Operations
Other Operating Income

14

108

155

Financing and
Investment Expenditure

15

(1,489)

(1,499)

(4,976)

(1,843)

33

6,641

(15,873)

11

(1,798)

(1,312)

Other Comprehensive
Income and
Expenditure

4,843

(17,185)

Total Comprehensive
Income and
Expenditure

(133)

(19,028)

(29,560)

(29,693)

(29,693)

(48,721)

(133)

(19,028)

Deficit on Provision of
Services
Actuarial gains/(losses)
on pension assets and
liabilities
Contributions to
constituent Councils

Represented by:
Net Liabilities at
beginning of year
Net Liabilities at end of
year
Net Movement in Net
Liabilities

The notes on pages 33 to 59 form an integral part of these financial statements.
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BALANCE SHEET AS AT 31 MARCH
Note
31 March 2016
£’000

31 March 2017
£’000

10,241

10,316

10,241

10,316

2,191
13,637
6

2,366
13,206
6

15,834

15,578

(690)
(1,325)
(13,988)
(1,122)

(2,049)
(1,418)
(12,363)
(1,177)

(17,125)

(17,007)

(1,291)

(1,429)

(529)
(5,832)
(32,282)

(419)
(5,567)
(51,622)

Long Term Liabilities

(38,643)

(57,608)

Net Liabilities

(29,693)

(48,721)

500
(30,193)

580
(49,301)

(29,693)

(48,721)

Property, Plant & Equipment

16

Non-Current Assets
Inventories
Short Term Debtors
Cash and Cash Equivalents

20
21
22

Current Assets
Bank Overdraft
Short Term Borrowing
Short Term Creditors
Short Term Provisions

22
23
24
25

Current Liabilities

Net Current Assets/ (Liabilities)
Long Term Provisions
Long Term Borrowing
Other Long Term Liabilities

Usable Reserves
Unusable Reserves

25
23
33

Page 28
Page 28

Total Reserves

The notes on pages 33 to 59 form an integral part of these financial statements.

Gregory Colgan BAcc (Hons), ACMA, CGMA
Proper Officer

The unaudited accounts were issued on 26 June 2017 and the audited accounts were authorised for
issue on 28 August 2017.
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CASH FLOW STATEMENT AS AT 31 MARCH

Net Deficit on the Provision of Services
Adjustments to surplus on the provision of services
for non-cash movements

Note

2015/16
£’000

2016/17
£’000

Page 29

(4,976)

(1,843)

8,124

4,515

96

116

3,244

2,788

28(a)

Adjustment for items included in the net surplus on
the provision of services that are investing and
financing activities

28(a)

Net Cash Flows from Operating Activities
Net Cash Flows from Investing Activities

28(b)

(2,348)

(1,805)

Net Cash Flows from Financing Activities

28(c)

(968)

(2,342)

(72)

(1,359)

Cash and Cash Equivalents at the beginning of
the reporting period

(612)

(684)

Cash and Cash Equivalents at the end of the
reporting period

(684)

(2,043)

Cash Balances

6

6

Bank Overdraft

(690)

(2,049)

(684)

(2,043)

Net Decrease in Cash and Cash Equivalents

22

Cash and Cash Equivalents

The notes on pages 33 to 59 form an integral part of these financial statements.
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EXPENDITURE AND FUNDING ANALYSIS
Net income/
(expenditure)
chargeable to
the General
Fund
£’000

Adjustments
between
Funding and
Accounting
basis
(see Note 13)
£’000

Net income/
(expenditure) in
Comprehensive
Income and
Expenditure
Statement
£’000

Construction Division
Facilities Services Division

1,558
578

(2,380)
(3,351)

(822)
(2,773)

Surplus/ (deficit) on Continuing Operations

2,136

(5,731)

(3,595)

Other Operating Income
Financing and Investment Income and
Expenditure
Surplus / (deficit) on Provision of Services

(338)

108
(1,151)

108
(1,489)

1,798

(6,774)

(4,976)

For the year ended 31 March 2016

Contributions to constituent Councils

(1,798)

Increase / (decrease) in General Fund

-

General Fund balance as at 1 April 2015

500

General Fund balance as at 31 March 2016

500

For the year ended 31 March 2017
Construction Division
Facilities Services Division

1,105
612

(814)
(1,402)

291
(790)

Surplus/ (deficit) on Continuing Operations

1,717

(2,216)

(499)

Other Operating Income
Financing and Investment Income and
Expenditure
Surplus / (deficit) on Provision of Services

(325)

155
(1,174)

155
(1,499)

1,392

(3,235)

(1,843)

Contributions to constituent Councils

(1,312)

Increase in General Fund

80

General Fund balance as at 1 April 2016

500

General Fund balance as at 31 March 2017

580

The notes on pages 33 to 59 form an integral part of these financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1.

Statement of Accounting Policies

General Principles
The Statement of Accounts summarises the Joint Committee’s transactions for the 2016/17 financial
year and its position at the year end of 31 March 2017. The Joint Committee is required to prepare
an annual Statement of Accounts by the Local Authority Accounts (Scotland) Regulations 1985, which
section 12 of the Local Government in Scotland Act 2003 require to be prepared in accordance with
proper accounting practices. These practices primarily comprise the Code of Practice on Local
Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom 2016/17 and the Best Value Accounting Code of Practice
2016/17, supported by International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and statutory guidance
issued under section 12 of the 2003 Act. The Statements have been prepared in accordance with the
fundamental accounting principles of relevance, reliability, comparability, understandability,
materiality, accruals, going concern and primacy of legislative requirements. The accounting
convention adopted in the Statement of Accounts is principally historical cost.
Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Accruals of Income and Expenditure
Activity is accounted for in the year that it takes place, not simply when cash payments are made or
received. In particular:








Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when the Joint Committee transfers the
significant risks and rewards of ownership to the purchaser and it is probable that economic
benefits or service potential associated with the transaction will flow to the Joint Committee.
Revenue from the provision of services is recognised when the Joint Committee can
measure reliably the percentage of completion of the transaction and it is probable that
economic benefits or service potential associated with the transaction will flow to the Joint
Committee.
Supplies are recorded as expenditure when they are consumed – where there is a gap
between the date supplies are received and their consumption, they are carried as
inventories on the Balance Sheet.
Expenses in relation to services received (including services provided by employees) are
recorded as expenditure when the services are received rather than when payments are
made.
Interest receivable on investments and payable on borrowings is accounted for respectively
as income and expenditure on the basis of the effective interest rate for the relevant financial
instrument rather than the cash flows fixed or determined by the contract.
Where income and expenditure have been recognised but cash has not been received or
paid, a debtor or creditor for the relevant amount is recorded in the Balance Sheet. Where
debts may not be settled, the balance of debtors is written down and a charge made to
revenue for the income that might not be collected.

Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash is represented by cash in hand and deposits with financial institutions repayable without penalty
on notice of not more than 24 hours. Cash equivalents are investments that mature in less than three
months from the date of acquisition and that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash with
insignificant risk of change in value.
In the Cash Flow Statement, cash and cash equivalents are shown inclusive of bank overdrafts that
are repayable on demand and form an integral part of the Joint Committee’s cash management.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
Exceptional Items
When items of income and expense are material, their nature and amount is disclosed separately,
either on the face of the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement or in the notes to the
accounts, depending on how significant the items are to an understanding of the Joint Committee’s
financial performance.
Prior Period Adjustments, Changes in Accounting Policies and Estimates and Errors
Prior period adjustments may arise as a result of a change in accounting policies or to correct a
material error. Changes in accounting estimates are accounted for prospectively, ie in the current and
future years affected by the change and do not give rise to a prior period adjustment.
Changes in accounting policies are only made when required by proper accounting practices or the
change provides more reliable or relevant information about the effect of transactions, other events
and conditions on the Joint Committee’s financial position or financial performance. Where a change
is made, it is applied retrospectively (unless stated otherwise) by adjusting opening balances and
comparative amounts for the prior period as if the new policy had always been applied.
Material errors discovered in prior period figures are corrected retrospectively by amending opening
balances and comparative amounts for the prior period.
Charges to Revenue for Non-Current Assets
Services, support services and trading accounts are debited with the depreciation attributable to the
assets used by the relevant service to record the cost of holding non-current assets during the year.
The Joint Committee is not required to fund depreciation and impairment losses through its revenue
streams. However, it is required to make an annual contribution from revenue towards the reduction
in its overall borrowing requirement equal to loans fund principal charges. Depreciation and
impairment losses are therefore replaced by the contribution in the General Fund Balance for loans
fund principal, by way of an adjusting transaction within the Capital Adjustment Account and in the
Movement in Reserves Statement for the difference between the two amounts.
Employee Benefits
Benefits Payable during Employment
Short-term employee benefits are those due to be settled within 12 months of the year end. They
include such benefits as wages and salaries, paid annual leave and paid sick leave and non-monetary
benefits for current employees and are recognised as an expense for services in the year in which
employees render service to the Joint Committee. An accrual is made for the cost of holiday
entitlements (or any form of leave eg time off in lieu) earned by employees but not taken before the
year end which employees can carry forward into the next financial year. The accrual is made at the
wage and salary rates applicable in the following accounting year, being the period in which the
employee takes the benefit. The accrual is charged to Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of Services,
but then reversed out through the Movement in Reserves Statement so that holiday benefits are
charged to revenue in the financial year in which the holiday absence occurs.
Termination and Post Employment Benefits
Termination benefits are amounts payable as a result of a decision by the Joint Committee to
terminate an officer’s employment before the normal retirement date or an officer’s decision to accept
voluntary redundancy and are charged on an accruals basis to the Comprehensive Income and
Expenditure Statement when the Joint Committee is demonstrably committed to the termination of
the employment of an officer or group of officers or making an offer to encourage voluntary
redundancy.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
Where termination benefits involve the enhancement of pensions, statutory provisions require the
General Fund balance to be charged with the amount payable by the Joint Committee to the pension
fund or pensioner in the year, not the amount calculated according to the relevant accounting
standards. In the Movement in Reserves Statement, appropriations are required to and from the
Pensions Reserve to remove the notional debits and credits for pension enhancement termination
benefits and replace them with debits for the cash paid to the pension fund and pensioners and any
such amounts payable but unpaid at the year end.
The Local Government Pension Scheme
The Local Government Scheme is accounted for as a defined benefits scheme






The liabilities of the Tayside Pension Fund attributable to the Joint Committee are included in the
Balance Sheet on an actuarial basis using the projected unit method – ie an assessment of the
future payments that will be made in relation to retirement benefits earned to date by employees,
based on assumptions about mortality rates, employee turnover rates, etc, and projections of
projected earnings for current employees.
Liabilities are discounted to their value at current prices, (the discount rate being the annualised
yield at the 19 year point on the Merrill Lynch AA rated corporate bond curve which has been
chosen to meet the requirements of IAS19 and with consideration of the duration of the
Employer’s liabilities).
The assets of the Tayside Pension Fund attributable to the Joint Committee are included in the
Balance Sheet at their fair value:
o quoted securities – current bid price
o unquoted securities – professional estimate
o unitised securities – current bid price
o property – market value.

In relation to retirement benefits, statutory provisions require the General Fund balance to be charged
with the amount payable by the Joint Committee to the pension fund or directly to pensioners in the
year, not the amount calculated according to the relevant accounting standards. In the Movement in
Reserves Statement, this means that there are appropriations to and from the Pensions Reserve to
remove the notional debits and credits for retirement benefits and replace them with debits for the
cash paid to the pension fund and pensioners and any such amounts payable but unpaid at the year
end. The negative balance that arises on the Pensions Reserve thereby measures the beneficial
impact to the General Fund of being required to account for retirement benefits on the basis of cash
flows rather than as benefits are earned by employees.
Discretionary Benefits
The Joint Committee also has restricted powers to make discretionary awards of retirement benefits
in the event of early retirements. Any liabilities estimated to arise as a result of an award to any
member of staff are accrued in the year of the decision to make the award and accounted for using
the same policies as are applied to the Local Government Pension Scheme.
Events after the Balance Sheet Date
Events after the balance sheet date are those events, both favourable and unfavourable, that occur
between the end of the reporting period and the date when the Statement of Accounts is authorised
for issue. Two types of events can be identified:



those that provide evidence of conditions that existed at the end of the reporting period – the
Statement of Accounts is adjusted to reflect such events
those that are indicative of conditions that arose after the reporting period – the Statement of
Accounts is not adjusted to reflect such events, but where a category of events would have a
material effect, disclosure is made in the notes of the nature of the events and their estimated
financial effect.

35

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
Events taking place after the date of authorisation for issue are not reflected in the Statement of
Accounts.
Inventories and Long Term Contracts
Construction and vehicle maintenance inventories are included in the Balance Sheet at the lower of
average cost and net realisable value. Catering stock has been included at replacement value from
suppliers’ list prices (this value is not significantly different from original cost).
Work in progress is measured at the cost of work unbilled at 31 March. The work in progress for the
year ending 31 March 2017 was £12k (2016 - £200k).
Leases
Leases are classified as finance leases where the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks
and rewards incidental to ownership of the property, plant or equipment from the lessor to the lessee.
All other leases are classified as operating leases.
Arrangements that do not have the legal status of a lease but convey a right to use an asset in return
for payment are accounted for under this policy where fulfilment of the arrangement is dependent on
the use of specific assets. Tayside Contracts has no arrangements of this nature of significant value
in place.
Finance Leases
Property, plant and equipment held under finance leases is recognised on the Balance Sheet at the
commencement of the lease at its fair value measured at the lease’s inception (or the present value of
the minimum lease payments, if lower). The asset recognised is matched by a liability for the
obligation to pay the lessor. Initial direct costs of the Joint Committee are added to the carrying
amount of the asset. Premiums paid on entry into a lease are applied to writing down the lease
liability.
Lease payments are apportioned between:


a charge for the acquisition of the interest in the property, plant or equipment – applied to
write down the lease liability, and



a finance charge (debited to the Financing and Investment Expenditure line in the
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement).

Property, Plant and Equipment recognised under finance leases is accounted for using the policies
applied generally to such assets, subject to depreciation being charged over the lease term if this is
shorter than the asset’s estimated useful life (where ownership of the asset does not transfer to the
Joint Committee at the end of the lease period).
Operating Leases
Rentals paid under operating leases are charged to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure
Statement as an expense of the services benefitting from use of the leased property, plant or
equipment. Charges are made on a straight line basis over the life of the lease, even if this does not
match the pattern of payments.
Overheads and Support Services
The costs of overheads and support services are charged to those that benefit from the supply or
service in accordance with the costing principles of the CIPFA Best Value Accounting Code of
Practice 2016/17 (BVACOP).

36

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
The total absorption costing principle is used – the full cost of overheads and support services are
shared between users in proportion to the benefits received.
Property, Plant and Equipment
Assets that have physical substance and are held for use in the production or supply of goods or
services, for rental to others, or for administrative purposes and that are expected to be used during
more than one financial year are classified as Property, Plant and Equipment.
Recognition
Expenditure on the acquisition, creation or enhancement of Property, Plant and Equipment is
capitalised on an accruals basis, provided that it is probable that the future economic benefits or
service potential associated with the item will flow to the Joint Committee and the cost of the item can
be measured reliably. Expenditure that maintains but does not add to an asset’s potential to deliver
future economic benefits or service potential (ie repairs and maintenance) is charged as an expense
when it is incurred.
Measurement
Assets are initially measured at cost, comprising:



the purchase price
any costs attributable to bringing the asset to the location and condition necessary for it to be
capable of operating in the manner intended by management.

The Joint Committee does not capitalise borrowing costs incurred whilst assets are under
construction.
The cost of assets acquired other than by purchase is deemed to be its fair value, unless the
acquisition does not have commercial substance (ie it will not lead to a variation in the cash flows of
the Joint Committee). In the latter case, where an asset is acquired via an exchange, the cost of the
acquisition is the carrying amount of the asset given up by the Joint Committee.
Where there is no market-based evidence of fair value because of the specialist nature of an asset,
depreciated replacement cost (DRC) is used as an estimate of fair value. Where non-property assets
that have short useful lives or low values (or both), depreciated historical cost basis is used as a proxy
for fair value.
Impairment
Assets are assessed each year as to whether there is any indication that an asset may be impaired.
Where indications exist and any possible differences are estimated to be material, the recoverable
amount of the asset is estimated and, where this is less than the carrying amount of the asset, an
impairment loss is recognised for the shortfall.
Where impairment losses are identified, they are accounted for by the carrying amount of the asset
being written down against the relevant Division in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure
Statement.
Where an impairment loss is reversed subsequently, the reversal is credited to the relevant Division in
the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement, up to the amount of the original loss,
adjusted for depreciation that would have been charged if the loss had not been recognised, with
corresponding entries made as appropriate to the Capital Adjustment Account.
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Depreciation
Depreciation is provided for on all Property, Plant and Equipment assets by the systematic allocation
of their depreciable amounts over their useful lives. An exception is made for assets without a
determinable finite useful life (ie freehold land) and assets that are not yet available for use (ie assets
under construction).
Depreciation is calculated on the following bases:


buildings – straight line allocation over the useful life of the property. Buildings at Collace
Quarry are depreciated over the remaining economic life of the quarry as estimated at the
date of acquisition or construction of the building.



vehicles, plant and equipment – straight line allocation over the useful life of each class of
assets, ranging from 2 to 20 years, typically between 5 to 10 years.

Where an item of Property, Plant and Equipment asset has major components whose cost is
significant in relation to the total cost of the item, the components are depreciated separately.
Disposals
When an asset is disposed of or decommissioned, the carrying amount of the asset in the Balance
Sheet (whether Property, Plant and Equipment or Assets Held for Sale) is written off to the Other
Operating Expenditure line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement as part of the
gain or loss on disposal. Receipts from disposals (if any) are credited to the same line in the
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement also as part of the gain or loss on disposal (ie
netted off against the carrying value of the asset at the time of disposal).
The balance of receipts is required to be credited to the Capital Receipts Reserve, and can then only
be used for new capital investment.
Receipts are appropriated to the Reserve from the General Fund Balance in the Movement in
Reserves Statement.
The written off value of disposals is not a charge against the General Fund, as the cost of fixed assets
is fully provided for under separate arrangements for capital financing. Amounts are appropriated to
the Capital Adjustment Account from the General Fund Balance in the Movement in Reserves
Statement.
Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets
Provisions
Provisions are made where an event has taken place that gives the Joint Committee a legal or
constructive obligation that probably requires settlement by a transfer of economic benefits or service
potential, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. For instance, the Joint
Committee may be involved in a court case that could eventually result in the making of a settlement
or the payment of compensation.
Provisions are charged as an expense to the appropriate Division in the Comprehensive Income and
Expenditure Statement in the year that the Joint Committee becomes aware of the obligation, and are
measured at the best estimate at the balance sheet date of the expenditure required to settle the
obligation, taking into account relevant risks and uncertainties.
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When payments are eventually made, they are charged to the provision carried in the Balance Sheet.
Estimated settlements are reviewed at the end of each financial year – where it becomes less than
probable that a transfer of economic benefits will now be required (or a lower settlement than
anticipated is made), the provision is reversed and credited back to the relevant service.
Where some or all of the payment required to settle a provision is expected to be recovered from
another party (eg from an insurance claim), this is only recognised as income for the relevant service
if it is virtually certain that reimbursement will be received if the Joint Committee settles the obligation.
Contingent Liabilities
A contingent liability arises where an event has taken place that gives the Joint Committee a possible
obligation whose existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or otherwise of uncertain future
events not wholly within the control of the Joint Committee.
Contingent liabilities also arise in circumstances where a provision would otherwise be made but
either it is not probable that an outflow of resources will be required or the amount of the obligation
cannot be measured reliably.
Contingent liabilities are not recognised in the Balance Sheet but disclosed in a note to the accounts.
Contingent Assets
A contingent asset arises where an event has taken place that gives the Joint Committee a possible
asset whose existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or otherwise of uncertain future
events not wholly within the control of the Joint Committee. Contingent assets are not recognised in
the Balance Sheet but disclosed in a note to the accounts where it is probable that there will be an
inflow of economic benefits or service potential.
Reserves
The Joint Committee sets aside specific amounts as reserves for future policy purposes. Reserves
are created by appropriating amounts out of the General Fund Balance in the Movement in Reserves
Statement. When expenditure to be financed from a reserve is incurred, it is charged to the
appropriate service in that year to be reflected in the Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of Services in
the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement.
The reserve is then appropriated back into the General Fund Balance in the Movement in Reserves
Statement so that there is no net charge for the expenditure.
Certain reserves are kept to manage the accounting processes for non-current assets, retirement and
employee benefits and do not represent usable resources for the Joint Committee – these reserves
are explained in the relevant policies.
Revenue Expenditure Funded from Capital under Statute
Expenditure incurred during the year that may be capitalised under statutory provisions but that does
not result in the creation of a non-current asset has been charged as expenditure to the relevant
service in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement in the year. Where the Joint
Committee has determined to meet the cost of this expenditure from existing capital resources or by
borrowing, a transfer in the Movement in Reserves Statement from the General Fund Balance to the
Capital Adjustment Account then reverses out the amounts charged so that there is no impact on the
level of revenue expenditure.
VAT
VAT payable is included as an expense only to the extent that it is not recoverable from Her Majesty’s
Revenue and Customs. VAT receivable is excluded from income.

39

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
Borrowing
Borrowing represents the outstanding principal repayable (plus accrued interest) on loans arranged
with Dundee City Council to finance capital expenditure. Interest is charged annually to the
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement in accordance with loan agreements. Loan terms
are arranged to match the useful lives of assets financed.
Treatment of Surpluses/Deficits
An element of profit is included in each tender where possible and any profit made at the end of the
year is used to fund capital expenditure (CFCR), transferred to the constituent Councils at an agreed
amount and any remaining surplus transferred into reserves.
Any shortfall in surplus against the agreed distribution to the constituent Councils is met from
reserves. In the event of a deficit arising, it would be met first from any available reserves and
secondly by a contribution from each constituent Council.
Consolidation
The Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement and supporting statements, Balance Sheet,
Movement in Reserves Statement and Cash Flow Statement reflect all the functions and activities of
Tayside Contracts. All inter-divisional transactions have been eliminated on consolidation.
Going Concern
The Joint Committee’s Balance Sheet as at 31 March 2017 shows a Net Liability of £48.721m
(2015/16 - £29.693m). The significant factor in this is the IAS 19 Pension Liability of £51.622m
(2015/16 - £32.282m), which is based on a “snapshot” at 31 March 2017 and is particularly sensitive
to the vagaries of the equities market and the discount rate applied to determine the present value of
future liabilities. The IAS 19 Pension Liability is a notional figure and does not require to be funded.
Any projected liability on the Tayside Pension Fund is currently recouped by increased employer’s
contributions. The IAS 19 Pension Liability does not impact on the Joint Committee’s General Fund
or budget requirements, and does not affect the Joint Committee’s ability to continue trading as a
going concern.
2.

Accounting Standards that have been issued but not yet been adopted

IFRS 16, Leases has been issued and it is likely that this will have an impact on Tayside Contracts’
financial statements, from 2019/20.
3.

Critical Judgements in Applying Accounting Policies

In applying the accounting policies set out in Note 1, the Joint Committee has to make certain
judgements about complex transactions or those involving uncertainty about future events. There
were no critical judgements made in preparing the Statement of Accounts.
4.

Assumptions that have been made about the future

Pensions
Estimation of the net liability to pay pensions depends on a number of complex judgements relating to
the discount rate used, the rate at which salaries are projected to increase, changes in retirement
ages, mortality rates and expected return on pension fund assets. A firm of actuaries is engaged by
the pension fund administrators to provide the Joint Committee with expert advice regarding the
assumptions to be applied.
Please refer to Note 33 for a sensitivity analysis for each significant actuarial assumption made.
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5.

Construction Division Statutory Trading Account

2014/15
£'000

2015/16
£'000

3 Year
Total
£'000

2016/17
£'000
Income

38,996
161
2,560

41,115
157
1,905

41,717

43,177

Charges to Constituent Councils
Charges to Internal Users
Other Income

37,817
155
1,609
39,581

117,928
473
6,074
124,475

Expenditure
10,068

10,429

Direct Labour

10,237

30,734

13,980
4,333
2,329
9,561
1,750
396
288

13,417
4,161
2,696
11,271
1,800
417
297

Direct Purchases
Sub-contractors
Transport and Plant Hire
Overheads
Depreciation
Depot Rental Charges
Interest Payable

11,685
3,271
2,493
9,453
1,892
408
308

39,082
11,765
7,518
30,285
5,442
1,221
893

42,705

44,488

39,747

126,940

(166)

(2,465)

992

4,642

9

310

1,001

4,952

835

2,487

(988)

(1,311)

Net Deficit including IAS 19
Adjustments
IAS 19 Adjustments included above

1,217

2,433

159

142

1,376

2,575

388

1,264

Current Service Cost
Past Service Cost

Trading Account Surplus before IAS
19 Adjustments

The financial objective set by the Local Government in Scotland Act (2003) determines that each
Statutory Trading Account must break even over a rolling three year period. This objective is measured
after adjusting for IAS 19 pension costs. However, due to the notional nature of IAS 19 adjustments, the
significant impact they have on the trading surplus and the fact that they are wholly outwith the control of
Tayside Contracts, trading surpluses/(deficits) have been disclosed above both inclusive of and
excluding IAS 19 adjustments. Over the three year period 2014/15 to 2016/17 the financial objective for
the Construction Division has not been achieved, with a deficit of £2,465k after applying IAS 19
adjustments. However, the true measure of trading performance is the three year surplus of £2,487k
excluding IAS 19 adjustments.
Notes 8 and 9 provide reconciliations of the Statutory Trading Account to the Comprehensive Income &
Expenditure Statement and the movement in General Fund balance respectively.
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6.

Facilities Services Division Statutory Trading Account

2014/15
£'000

2015/16
£'000

2016/17
£'000

3 Year
Total
£'000

Income
25,069
182
1,924

27,754
186
1,933

27,175

29,873

18,426
4,581
5,501
33
25
-

20,603
5,091
6,885
38
30
-

28,566

32,647

(1,391)

(2,774)

1,489

3,264

185

106

1,674

3,370

Charges to Constituent Councils
Charges to Internal Users
Other Income

Expenditure
Direct Labour
Direct Purchases
Overheads
Depreciation
Depot Rental Charges
Interest Payable

Net Deficit including IAS 19
Adjustments

28,862
187
2,006

81,685
555
5,863

31,055

88,103

21,487
5,120
5,160
47
29
-

60,516
14,792
17,546
118
84
-

31,843

93,056

(788)

(4,953)

1,281

6,034

11

302

1,292

6,336

504

1,383

IAS 19 Adjustments included above

283

596

Current Service Cost
Past Service Cost

Trading Account Surplus before IAS 19
Adjustments

The financial objective set by the Local Government in Scotland Act (2003) determines that each
Statutory Trading Account must break even over a rolling three year period. This objective is measured
after adjusting for IAS 19 pension costs. However, due to the notional nature of IAS 19 adjustments, the
significant impact they have on the trading surplus and the fact that they are wholly outwith the control of
Tayside Contracts, trading surpluses/(deficits) have been disclosed above both inclusive of and
excluding IAS 19 adjustments. Over the three year period 2014/15 to 2016/17 the financial objective for
the Facilities Services Division has not been achieved, with a deficit of £4,953k including IAS 19
adjustments. However, the true measure of trading performance is the three year surplus of £1,383k
excluding IAS 19 adjustments.
Notes 8 and 9 provide reconciliations of the Statutory Trading Account to the Comprehensive Income &
Expenditure Statement and the movement in the General Fund balance respectively.
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7.

Trading Operations

The Movement in Reserves Statement shows a surplus of £1.392m (2015/16 - £1.798m) for after IAS
19 requirements have been met. £1.312m (2015/16 - £1.798m) will be distributed to the constituent
Councils, leaving an increase to the Usable Reserves of £0.08m (2015/16 – no impact). This increase
of £0.08m is to set aside funds for consultancy costs associated with restructuring and collaborative
projects.
Financial Objectives are measured over a three year period under the Local Government in Scotland
Act (2003), with each Statutory Trading Account required to break even over that period. Neither the
Facilities Services Statutory Trading Account nor the Construction Division have met this objective for
the three years 2014/15, 2015/16 and 2016/17, due to the volatile and corrosive effect of IAS19.
However the underlying trading performance, excluding the distortions arising from the volatility of the
pension fund, remains solid with three year totals of £2,487k for Construction, and £1,383k for
Facilities.
8.

Reconciliation of Statutory Trading Accounts to the Comprehensive Income &
Expenditure Statement

The accounting treatment of certain items of income and expenditure differs between the Statutory
Trading Accounts and the Comprehensive Income & Expenditure Statement. In particular, internal
trading requires to be eliminated and interest charges are identified separately in the Comprehensive
Income & Expenditure Statement. A reconciliation between the two accounting statements is provided
in the table below.

Expenditure
£’000
Construction Division
Total per Statutory Trading Account (Note 5)
Adjustments:
Internal Trading
Difference between notional and actual depot costs
Interest Charges
Comprehensive Income & Expenditure Statement
Facilities Services
Total per Statutory Trading Account (Note 6)
Adjustments:
Internal Trading
Other Adjustments
Difference between notional and actual depot costs
Interest Charges
Comprehensive Income & Expenditure Statement

9.

Income
£’000

Net
Income/
(Expenditure)
£’000

(39,747)

39,581

(166)

187
100
325

(155)

32
100
325

(39,135)

39,426

291

(31,843)

31,055

(788)

155
1
29
-

(187)

(32)
1
29
-

(31,658)

30,868

(790)

Reconciliation of Statutory Trading Accounts to Movement in the General Fund
Balance

Further to the reconciliation in Note 8 above, a number of accounting adjustments are required by the
Code to produce the Movement in Reserves Statement. The table below provides reconciliation
between the surpluses/(deficits) reported in the Trading Accounts and the increase in the General
Fund balance, with an analysis between the Construction and Facilities Divisions.
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2015/16
Trading Accounts
Construction Facilities
Total
£’000
£’000
£’000

10.

2016/17

(1,311)

(2,774)

(4,085)

1,800

38

1,838

122

30

152

3,073

4,022

7,095

(498)
(1,248)
(755)
-

(652)
(78)
(1)

(1,150)
(1,248)
(833)
(1)

37

(7)

30

(1,220)

(578)

(1,798)

-

-

-

Deficit per Trading
Accounts
Depreciation &
Impairment
Difference between
notional and actual
depot costs
Difference between IAS
19 and actual pension
costs
IAS 19 pension interest
cost and expected return
Repayment of debt
CFCR
Other Adjustments
Employee Statutory
Adjustments
Contribution to
constituent Councils
Increase in General
Fund Balance

Construction
£’000

Facilities
£’000

Total
£’000

(166)

(788)

(954)

1,892

47

1,939

100

29

129

1,502

1,965

3,467

(509)
(1,326)
(743)
-

(665)
(18)
1

(1,174)
(1,326)
(761)
1

30

41

71

(742)

(570)

(1,312)

38

42

80

Net Liability

The Joint Committee’s Balance Sheet as at 31 March 2017 shows a Net Liability of £48.721m
(2015/16 - £29.693m). The significant factor in this is the IAS 19 Pension Liability of £51.622m
(2015/16 - £32.282m), which is based on a “snapshot” at 31 March 2017 and is particularly sensitive
to the vagaries of the equities market and other investment returns, the discount rate applied to
determine the present value of future liabilities and assumptions regarding future inflation and
mortality rates. The IAS 19 Pension Liability is a notional figure and does not require to be funded.
Any projected liability on the Tayside Pension Fund is currently addressed by increased employer’s
contributions. The IAS 19 Pension Liability does not impact on the Joint Committee’s General Fund
or budget requirements and does not affect the Joint Committee’s ability to continue trading as a
going concern. All of Tayside Contracts net liabilities relate to trading undertakings.
11.

Contributions to the Constituent Councils

For the financial year ending 31 March 2017, the constituent Councils agreed that the total amount to
be distributed was £750k. However, as a consequence of the continued strong financial performance
achieved for the year, an increased amount of £1.312m will be distributed to the constituent Councils
(2015/16 - £1.798m). This amount has been apportioned to the three constituent Councils in
accordance with the percentage split method agreed by the Joint Committee on 22 August 2016.
12.

Events After the Balance Sheet Date

There were no events that occurred between 1 April 2017 and 28 August 2017 that would have an
impact on the 2016/17 financial statements. The later date was the date the audited financial
statements were authorised for issue by the Joint Committee.
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13.

Adjustments between the Accounting Basis and Funding Basis under Regulations

Adjustments involving the Capital Adjustment Account
Reversal of items debited or credited to the CIES
Charges for depreciation and impairment of non current assets
Capital expenditure funded from revenue
Carrying amount of non current assets sold
Loans/Lease principal repayments during the year
Reduction in liability on expiry of finance leases
Insertion of items not debited or credited to the CIES
Other Adjustments
Adjustments involving the Capital Receipts Reserve
Proceeds From Sale of Non Current Assets
Adjustments involving the Pensions Reserve
Reversal of items relating to retirement benefits debited or credited to
the Comprehensive Income & Expenditure Statement (see Note 33)
Employer’s pensions contributions and direct payments to pensioners
payable in the year (see Note 33)
Adjustment involving the Employee Statutory Adjustments
Account
Adjustments in relation to Employee Statutory Adjustments
Total Adjustments
14.

2016/17
£'000

1,838
(833)
144
(1,248)
(9)

1,939
(761)
101
(1,326)
(47)

-

-

(243)

(209)

11,319

7,435

(4,224)

(3,968)

30

71

6,774

3,235

2015/16
£’000
243
(144)
9

2016/17
£’000
209
(101)
47

108

155

2015/16
£’000
6
46
287
339

2016/17
£’000
24
301
325

(4,422)
5,572
1,150

(4,766)
5,940
1,174

1,489

1,499

Other Operating Expenditure

Net Proceeds from sale of Non-Current Assets
Carrying amount of Non-Current Assets Sold
Reduction in liability on expiry of finance leases
Gains on Sale of Non-Current Assets
15.

2015/16
£'000

Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure

Interest payable and similar charges
Lease Interest
Bank Interest
Loan Interest
Pensions interest cost and expected return on pensions assets
Expected return on assets/Net Interest on defined liabilities
Interest cost

Total Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure
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16.

Property Plant and Equipment

16 (a)

Comparative Year

Buildings
£’000

Vehicles,
Plant &
Equipment
(owned)
£’000

Vehicles,
Plant &
Equipment
(leased)
£’000

Total
Property,
Plant &
Equipment
£’000

69

377

17,787

1,430

19,663

-

-

2,736
(613)

(630)

2,736
(1,243)

69

377

19,910

800

21,156

Depreciation and Impairment
Balance as at 1 April 2015

-

204

8,752

1,220

10,176

Depreciation Charge
De-recognition - Disposals

-

26
-

1,744
(517)

68
(582)

1,838
(1,099)

At 31 March 2016

-

230

9,979

706

10,915

69

147

9,931

94

69

173

9,035

210

9,487

Buildings
£’000

Vehicles,
Plant &
Equipment
(owned)
£’000

Vehicles,
Plant &
Equipment
(leased)
£’000

Total
Property,
Plant &
Equipment
£’000

69

377

19,910

800

21,156

-

-

2,115
(1,079)

(458)

2,115
(1,537)

69

377

20,946

342

21,734

Depreciation and Impairment
Balance as at 1 April 2016

-

230

9,979

706

10,915

Depreciation Charge
De-recognition - Disposals

-

23
-

1,889
(1,024)

27
(412)

1,939
(1,436)

At 31 March 2017

-

253

10,844

321

11,418

Net Book Value
Balance as at 31 March 2017

69

124

10,102

21

10,316

Balance as at 31 March 2016

69

147

9,931

94

10,241

Land
£’000
Cost or Valuation
Balance as at 1 April 2015
Additions
De-recognition - Disposals
At 31 March 2016

Net Book Value
Balance as at 31 March 2016

Balance as at 31 March 2015

10,241

16 (b) Current Year

Land
£’000
Cost or Valuation
Balance as at 1 April 2016
Additions
De-recognition - Disposals
At 31 March 2017
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In accordance with the stated accounting policy, owned assets are depreciated over their estimated
useful life. The useful life assigned to the various types of plant, vehicles and equipment ranges from
2 to 20 years. Quarry buildings are depreciated over the estimated remaining economic life of the
quarry at the date of acquisition, and a range of 10 to 16 years has been applied. Computer
equipment (large value servers) is depreciated over 5 years. Assets acquired under finance leases
are depreciated over the life of the lease taking into account any residual value at the end of the lease
period.
17.

Capital Expenditure – Sources of Finance

The total amount of capital expenditure incurred in the year is shown in the table below, together with
the resources that have been used to finance it.

Capital Receipts
Capital Funded from Current Revenue
Loans
Other

18.

2015/16
£’000
243
833
1,658
2

2016/17
£’000
209
761
1,154
(9)

2,736

2,115

Capital Commitments

At 31 March 2017 there were commitments of £87,000 in respect of vehicles, plant and equipment
ordered but not received at that date (2015/16 - £26,000).
19.

Financial Instruments

With the exception of debtors, creditors and borrowings to fund capital expenditure, analyses of which
are provided in notes 21, 23 and 24 respectively, Tayside Contracts does not have any financial
instruments that are required to be re-measured and disclosed under International Accounting
Standards 39 and 32 and International Financial Reporting Standard 7.

20.

Inventories

In undertaking its work, the Joint Committee holds reserves of stock together with amounts of
uncompleted work (work in progress). The figure shown in the balance sheet may be subdivided as
follows:

Work in Progress
Stock

21.

2015/16
£’000
200
1,991

2016/17
£’000
12
2,354

2,191

2,366

2015/16
£’000
12,860
821
(44)

2016/17
£’000
12,185
1,025
(4)

13,637

13,206

Debtors

Short Term Debtors

Constituent Councils
Trade Debtors
Provision for Bad Debts
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22.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and Bank Balances
Bank Overdraft

23.

2015/16
£’000
6
(690)

2016/17
£’000
6
(2,049)

(684)

(2,043)

Short and Long Term Borrowing

During 2016/17, loans amounting to £1.154m (2015/16 - £1.658m) were arranged with Dundee City
Council to finance capital expenditure. The net future obligation in respect of these loans, together
with loans arranged in previous years, as at 31 March is:

Due in 1 year
Due in 2 – 5 years
Due in more than 5 years

24.

2016/17
£’000
1,418
4,365
1,202

7,157

6,985

2015/16
£’000
3,698
65
1,154
856
8,215

2016/17
£’000
3,031
18
1,227
927
7,160

13,988

12,363

Creditors

Short Term Creditors
Constituent Councils
Finance Leases
Employees
Accumulated Absences
Trade Creditors
Total Creditors

25.

2015/16
£’000
1,325
1,709
4,123

Provisions

A provision has been created in respect of completed contracts for which costs associated with
remedial works are expected to arise in future years. The provisional sum represents the estimated
value of irrecoverable costs which include outstanding claims, remedial and maintenance expenses.
Provision is also made for the future reinstatement of the two quarries operated by Tayside Contracts
and remedial costs at the Bolshan landfill quarry site as determined by SEPA. Other provisions relate
to the removal and disposal of Whin dust at the quarry, ongoing legal disputes, obsolete or ageing
stock items, restructuring and allowing for insurance claims and claims in respect of overtime
adjustments to holiday payments.
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Prior Year

Remedial Works
Quarry Reinstatement Costs
Bolshan Quarry Reinstatement
Disposal of Whin dust
Restructuring
Insurance claims
Other

Short Term Provisions
Long Term Provisions

Current Year

Remedial Works
Quarry Reinstatement Costs
Bolshan Quarry Reinstatement
Disposal of Whin dust
Restructuring
Insurance claims
Other

Short Term Provisions
Long Term Provisions

26.

Balance
as at 1
April
2015
£’000

Increase
During
Year
£’000

Utilised
During
Year
£’000

Unused
Amounts
Reversed
£’000

Interest
Earned
£’000

Balance
as at 31
March
2016
£’000

321
187
99
403
259
144

450
2
1
242
99
48
280

(87)
(2)
(382)
(76)
(82)

(234)
(21)
-

-

450
189
98
242
99
231
342

1,413

1,122

(629)

(255)

-

1,651

1,127
286

877
245

(627)
(2)

(255)
-

-

1,122
529

1,413

1,122

(629)

(255)

-

1,651

Balance
as at 1
April
2016
£’000

Increase
During
Year
£’000

Utilised
During
Year
£’000

Unused
Amounts
Reversed
£’000

Interest
Earned
£’000

Balance
as at 31
March
2017
£’000

450
189
98
242
99
231
342

385
3
5
264
102
39

(163)
(2)
(115)
(78)
(54)
(30)

(287)
(4)
(120)

-

385
192
101
127
281
279
231

1,651

798

(442)

(411)

-

1,596

1,122
529

790
8

(324)
(118)

(411)
-

-

1,177
419

1,651

798

(442)

(411)

-

1,596

Usable Reserves

Capital Receipts Reserve
These are cash receipts from the sale of the Joint Committee’s assets, which have been applied to
finance capital expenditure.
2015/16
2016/17
£’000
£’000
Opening Balance as at 1 April
Capital Receipts in the year
243
209
Capital Receipts used to finance capital expenditure
(243)
(209)
Closing Balance as at 31 March

-
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
27.

Unusable Reserves

Capital Adjustment Account
Pensions Reserve
Accumulating Compensated Absences Account

2015/16
£’000
2,945
(32,282)
(856)

2016/17
£’000
3,248
(51,622)
(927)

(30,193)

(49,301)

Capital Adjustment Account
The Capital Adjustment Account absorbs the timing differences arising from the different accounting
arrangement in respect of consumption of non-current assets and the financing of the acquisition,
construction or enhancement of those assets under statutory provisions. The account is debited with
the cost of acquisition, construction or enhancement as depreciation, impairment losses and
amortisations are charged to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. The account is
credited with the amounts set aside by the Joint Committee as finance for the costs of acquisition,
construction and enhancement.

Opening Balance as at 1 April
Reversal of items relating to capital expenditure debited or
credited to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement
Depreciation and impairment of non-current assets
Capital expenditure funded from revenue
Non-current assets written off on disposal or sale

Capital financing applied in the year
Capital receipts applied to finance capital expenditure
Loan and Lease principal repayments
Reduction in liability on expiry of finance leases

Closing Balance as at 31 March

2015/16
£’000
2,594

2016/17
£’000
2,945

(1,838)
833
(144)
(1,149)

(1,939)
761
(101)
(1,279)

243
1,248
9
1,500

209
1,326
47
1,582

2,945

3,248

Pensions Reserve
The Joint Committee accounts for post-employment benefits in the Comprehensive Income and
Expenditure Statement as the benefits are earned by employees accruing years of service, updating
the liabilities recognised to reflect inflation, changing assumptions and investment returns on any
resources set aside to meet the costs.
However, statutory arrangement require benefits earned to be financed as the Joint Committee
makes employer’s contributions to pension funds or pays any pensions for which it is directly
responsible. The debit balance on the Pensions Reserve therefore shows a substantial shortfall in
the benefits earned by past and current employees and the resources set aside to meet them. The
statutory arrangements will ensure that funding will have been set aside by the time the benefits come
to be paid. There is an equal and opposite liability for this amount in the Balance Sheet.
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Opening Balance as at 1 April
Actuarial gains or losses on pensions assets and liabilities
Reversal of items relating to retirement benefits debited or credited to
the surplus on the provision of service in the Comprehensive Income
and Expenditure (see Note 33)
Closing Balance as at 31 March

2015/16
£’000
(31,828)
6,641

2016/17
£’000
(32,282)
(15,873)

(7,095)

(3,467)

(32,282)

(51,622)

Employee Statutory Adjustments Account
The Employee Statutory Adjustments Account absorbs the differences that would otherwise arise on
the General Fund Balance from accruing for compensated absences earned but not taken in the year,
eg annual leave entitlement outstanding at 31 March. Statutory arrangements require that the impact
on the General Fund Balance is neutralised by transfers to or from the Account.

Opening Balance as at 1 April
Settlement or cancellation of accrual made at the end of the preceding
year
Amounts accrued at the end of the current year
Closing Balance as at 31 March

28.

Notes to the Cash Flow Statement

28(a)

Analysis of Adjustments to the Surplus on Provision of Services

Depreciation
Decrease/ (Increase) in Inventories
(Decrease)/Increase in Debtors
Increase/ (Decrease) in Creditors
Net charge to Pension Fund
Contribution to/(from) other Reserves/Provisions

Adjustment for items that are investing and financing activities
Interest Paid
Interest element of finance lease payments
Proceeds from the sale of non-current assets
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2015/16
£’000
(826)

2016/17
£’000
(856)

826
(856)

856
(927)

(856)

(927)

2015/16
£’000
1,838
171
(2,027)
783
7,095
264

2016/17
£’000
1,939
(175)
431
(1,044)
3,467
(103)

8,124

4,515

333
6
(243)

325
(209)

96

116

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
28(b)

Cash Flows from Investing Activities

Purchase of Property, Plant and Equipment
Carrying amount of non-current assets sold
Proceeds from the sale of non-current assets

28(c)

2016/17
£’000
(2,115)
101
209

(2,348)

(1,805 )

2015/16
£’000
1,658
(21)
(1,227)
(1,030)
(348)

2016/17
£’000
1,154
(1,326)
(1,798)
(372)

(968)

(2,342)

Cash Flows from Financing

Cash receipts from short and long term borrowing
Finance lease principal cash repayments
Short and long term borrowing cash repayments
Surpluses paid to constituent Councils
Other payments for Financing Activities

29.

2015/16
£’000
(2,735)
144
243

Members’ Allowances

The Joint Committee does not make payment to members in the form of salaries and allowances.
The only costs relating to members incurred by the Joint Committee are those associated with
attendance at relevant conferences and seminars.

Conferences and Seminars
Travel and Subsistence

30.

2015/16
£’000
1
-

2016/17
£’000
1
-

1

1

External Audit Fees

The external auditors of Tayside Contracts Joint Committee are appointed by the Accounts
Commission for Scotland, for a period of 5 years.
The total fee payable to Audit Scotland in respect of the 2016/17 financial year, for external audit
services undertaken in accordance with the Code of Practice, is £37k (2015/16 - £38k). During
2016/17 the external auditor did not provide any other services to the Joint Committee other than the
duties undertaken in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice.
31.

Related Parties

The Joint Committee is required to disclose material transactions with related parties – bodies that
have the potential to control or influence Tayside Contracts. By the very nature of Joint Committee
structure and operations, the three constituent Councils would be considered related parties. Work
carried out for the constituent Councils during the financial year was valued as follows:

Angus Council
Dundee City Council
Perth and Kinross Council
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2015/16
£’000
23,356
22,865
22,631

2016/17
£’000
22,938
21,363
21,837

68,852

66,138

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
Charges were made by the constituent Councils for services provided to the Joint Committee,
including historical loans fund charges for the use of depots, as follows (note that these figures
exclude prudential loan principal and interest repayments):

Angus Council
Dundee City Council
Perth and Kinross Council

2015/16
£’000
249
2,377
250

2016/17
£’000
183
2,177
819

2,876

3,179

The following repayments of surpluses due to the constituent Councils, including interest accrued on
outstanding balances, were made by Tayside Contracts:

Angus Council
Dundee City Council
Perth and Kinross Council

2015/16
£’000
295
397
342

2016/17
£’000
572
637
596

1,034

1,805

Loan repayments to Dundee City Council in respect of sums borrowed to fund capital expenditure,
including interest and loans fund expenses, are included in the accounts amounting to £1.627m in
2016/17 (2015/16 - £1.515m).
Included in the Balance Sheet are a number of balances relating to amounts due from and to the
constituent Councils. These are summarised as follows:
2015/16
£’000

2016/17
£’000

Debtors
Operational Activities

12,860

12,185

Creditors
Trade and Sundry Creditors
Surpluses due to constituent Councils

(385)
(1,798)

(92)
(1,312)

(2,183)

(1,404)

Also included in the Balance Sheet are balances outstanding on loans from Dundee City Council as
disclosed in Note 22.
32.

Leases

In order to comply with IFRS accounting requirements, all leases held by the Joint Committee as
lessee have been reviewed, and all leases are now classified as finance leases.
Note 16 (b) provides an analysis of the asset values of all leased assets, showing cost, depreciation
and movements due to additions and disposals (being termination at the end of the lease contracts),
with comparative figures for 2015/16 disclosed in note 16 (a).
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During 2016/17, finance lease charges of £nil (2015/16 - £2k) were incurred in respect of finance
charges and capital repayments of £nil (2015/16 - £21k) were made. Future finance lease obligations
as at 31 March are as follows:
Within 1
year
£’000

2 to 5
years
£’000

After 5
years
£’000

Total
£’000

31 March 2017
Residual value
Finance lease payments
Less: Finance charges
Net present value

18
18

-

-

18
18

31 March 2016
Residual value
Finance lease payments
Less: Finance charges
Net present value

65
65

-

-

65
65

These future obligations are included in the Balance Sheet as:
2014/15
£’000
Current Liabilities
Long Term Liabilities

33.

2015/16
£’000
94
-

65
-

2016/17
£’000
18
-

94

65

18

Defined Benefits Pension Scheme

Participation in the Local Government Pension Scheme
As part of the terms and conditions of employment of its employees, the Joint Committee offers
retirement benefits. Although these benefits will not actually be payable until employees retire, the
Joint Committee has a commitment to make the payments that need to be disclosed at the time that
employees earn their future entitlement.
The Joint Committee participates in the Tayside Pension Fund, administered by Dundee City Council.
This is a funded scheme, meaning that the Joint Committee and employees pay contributions into a
fund, calculated at a level intended to balance the pension funds liabilities with investment assets.
Transactions Relating to Retirement Benefits – CIES Charges
The Joint Committee recognises the cost of retirement benefits in the Cost of Services on Continuing
Operations when they are earned by employees rather than when the benefits are eventually paid as
pensions.
However, the charge the Joint Committee is required to make is based on the cash payable in the
year, and the real cost of retirement is reversed out in the adjustments between accounting basis and
funding basis under regulations line, in the Movement in Reserves Statement during the year.
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2015/16
£’000
10,169

Service cost
Net Operating Expenditure
Net Interest Expenditure

1,150

Net charge to the CIES

Adjustments between accounting basis and funding basis
under regulations
Reversal of charges made for retirement benefits in accordance with
IAS 19
Employer’s contributions payable to the scheme
Net Charge to the General Fund Summary

2016/17
£’000
6,261
1,174

11,319

7,435

2015/16
£’000

2016/17
£’000

(11,319)

(7,435)

4,224

3,968

(7,095)

(3,467)

In addition to the recognised gains and losses included in the CIES, actuarial loss of £15.873m
(2015/16 - £6.641m gain) were included in other comprehensive income and expenditure in the CIES.
The five year cumulative amount of actuarial gains and losses recognised in other comprehensive
income and expenditure is a gain of £7.040m.
Assets and Liabilities in Relation to Retirement Benefits
The change in the net pension liability is analysed into seven components:










current service cost – the increase in liabilities as a result of years of service earned this year –
allocated in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement to the services for which the
employees worked
past service cost – the increase in liabilities arising from current year decisions whose effect
relates to years of service earned in earlier years – debited to the Surplus or Deficit on the
Provision of Services in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement
interest cost – the expected increase in the present value of liabilities during the year as they
move one year closer to being paid – debited to the Financing and Investment Income and
Expenditure line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement
expected return on assets – the annual investment return on the fund assets attributable to the
Joint Committee, based on an average of the expected long-term return – credited to the
Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure line in the Comprehensive Income and
Expenditure Statement
gains or losses on settlements and curtailments – the result of actions to relieve the Joint
Committee of liabilities or events that reduce the expected future service or accrual of benefits of
employees – debited or credited to the Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of Services in the
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement
actuarial gains and losses – changes in the net pensions liability that arise because events have
not coincided with assumptions made at the last actuarial valuation or because the actuaries have
updated their assumptions – debited to the Pensions Reserve
contributions paid to the Tayside Pension Fund – cash paid as employer’s contributions to the
pension fund in settlement of liabilities; not accounted for as an expense.
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Reconciliation of present value of the scheme liabilities

Balance as at 1 April
Current service cost
Interest cost
Contributions by members
Actuarial gains
Past service costs including curtailments
Estimated unfunded benefits paid
Estimated benefits paid

2015/16
£’000
153,254
6,722
5,559
1,279
(1,275)
706
(167)
(4,576)

2016/17
£’000
161,502
6,208
5,888
1,345
40,603
53
(138)
(6,020)

Balance as at 31 March

161,502

209,441

Balance as at 1 April
Interest income
Contributions by members
Contributions by employer
Actuarial gains
Administration Expenses
Benefits paid

2015/16
£’000
121,426
7,047
1,279
4,224
(13)
(4,743)

2016/17
£’000
129,220
29,496
1,345
3,968
(52)
(6,158)

Balance as at 31 March

129,220

157,819

Reconciliation of present value of the scheme assets

The expected return on scheme assets is determined by considering the expected returns available
on the assets underlying the current investment policy. Expected yields on fixed interest investments
are based on gross redemption yields as at the Balance Sheet date. Expected returns on equity
investments reflect long term real rates of return experienced in the respective markets.
The actual return on scheme assets in the year showed a positive return of £29.5m
(2015/16 - £0.876m negative).
Fair Value of Plan Assets

Equity Investments
Gilts
Bonds
Property
Cash

The above asset values are at bid value as required by IAS 19.
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2015/16
£’000
88,586
6,764
16,686
15,766
1,418

2016/17
£’000
113,615
10,462
15,567
15,571
2,604

129,220

157,819

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
Scheme History - Analysis of scheme assets and liabilities
2012/13
£’000
Fair value of assets in pension
scheme
Present value of defined benefit
obligation
Net scheme liabilities

2013/14
£’000

2014/15
£’000

2015/16
£’000

2016/17
£’000

97,820

105,457

121,426

129,220

157,819

(131,611)

(154,350)

(153,254)

(161,502)

(209,441)

(33,791)

(48,893)

(31,828)

(32,282)

(51,622)

Amount recognised in other comprehensive income and expenditure
2012/13
£’000

2013/14
£’000

2014/15
£’000

2015/16
£’000

2016/17
£’000

Actuarial gains/(losses)

5,775

(11,783)

22,280

6,641

(15,873)

Cumulative actuarial gains and
losses

5,775

(6,008)

16,272

22,913

7,040

10,274

2,901

10,227

(5,298)

24,730

(110)

(106)

(145)

(167)

(138)

History of experience gains and
losses
Experience gains and (losses) on
assets
Experience losses on liabilities

The liabilities show the underlying commitments that the Joint Committee has in the long run to pay
retirement benefits. The total liability of £209.441m has a substantial impact on the net worth of the
Joint Committee as recorded in the Balance Sheet, resulting in a net liability of £48.721m. However,
statutory arrangements for funding the deficit mean that the financial position of the Joint Committee
remains healthy. The deficit of £51.622m on the Pension Fund will be made good by increased
contributions over the remaining working life of employees, as assessed by the scheme actuary.
Analysis of projected amount to be charged to CIES for the year to 31 March 2018
2017/18 Projected

Projected current cost
Net Interest on obligation
Administration expenses

£’000
8,600
1,339
64

%
85.97
13.39
0.64

Balance as at 31 March

10,003

100.00

The total contributions expected to be made to the Tayside Pension Fund by the Joint Committee in
the year to 31 March 2017 is £4.01m.
Basis for estimating assets and liabilities
Liabilities have been assessed on an actuarial basis using the projected unit method, an estimate of
the pensions that will be payable in the future years dependent on assumptions about mortality rates,
salary levels, etc.
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The pension fund liabilities have been assessed by an independent firm of actuaries, estimates being
based on data pertaining to the latest full valuation of the scheme as at 31 March 2014.

Long term expected rate of return on assets in the scheme

2015/16

2016/17

3.7%

2.7%

For accounting years beginning on or after 1 January 2013, the expected return and the interest cost
has been replaced with a single net interest cost, which effectively sets the expected return equal to
the IAS19 discount rate.
Mortality assumptions
Longevity at 65 for current pensioners
Men
Women
Longevity at 65 for future pensioners
Men
Women
Inflation / Pension increase rate
Salary increase rate
Expected return on assets
Discount rate

2015/16

2016/17

21.3 yrs
23.3 yrs

21.4 yrs
23.5 yrs

23.5 yrs
25.6 yrs

23.7 yrs
25.8 yrs

2.4%
4.2%
3.7%
3.7%

2.7%
3.7%
2.7%
2.7%

Major categories of plan assets as percentage of total plan assets
The Tayside Pension Fund’s assets consist of the following categories, by proportion of the total
assets held:
2014/15
Equity Investments
Gilts
Bonds
Property
Cash

2015/16

2016/17

71%
5%
13%
10%
1%

69%
5%
13%
12%
1%

72%
7%
10%
10%
1%

100%

100%

100%

Sensitivity Analysis

Adjustment to discount rate
 Present value of total obligation
 Projected service cost

£’000
+0.1%
205,654
8,416

£’000
0.0%
209,441
8,600

£’000
-0.1%
213,301
8,788

Adjustment to long term salary increase
 Present value of total obligation
 Projected service cost

+0.1%
209,982
8,604

0.0%
209,441
8,600

-0.1%
208,903
8.596

Adjustment to pension increases and deferred revaluation
 Present value of total obligation
 Projected service cost

+0.1%
212,757
8,784

0.0%
209,441
8,600

-0.1%
206,188
8,420
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£’000
+1 Year
217,221
8,874

Adjustment to life expectancy assumptions
 Present value of total obligation
 Projected service cost

34.

£’000
None
209,441
8,600

£’000
-1 Year
201,948
8,334

Contingent Liabilities

No events have occurred that would give rise to the need to account for any contingent liabilities.
35.

Contingent Assets

No events have occurred that are expected to result in the creation of an asset.
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